AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EXPLORING THE DYNAMICS OF FOOD SECURITY IN THE KARANTINA NEIGHBORHOOD IN RELATION TO THE BEIRUT PORT EXPLOSION

by MARIANA YOUSSEF MAKOUKJI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Food Security Program of the Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon August 2023

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

EXPLORING THE DYNAMICS OF FOOD SECURITY IN THE KARANTINA NEIGHBORHOOD IN RELATION TO THE BEIRUT PORT EXPLOSION

by MARIANA YOUSSEF MAKOUKJI

Approved by:

Advisor

Dr. Rami Zurayk, Professor Department of Landscape Design and Ecosystem Management

Dr. Hala Ghattas, Associate Research Professor Faculty of Health Sciences - Dean's Office

Signature

Dr. Yasser Abunnasr, Associate Professor Member of Committee Department of Landscape Design and Ecosystem Management

Quess G. D

Ms. Rachel Bahn, Former Coordinator of Food Security Food Security Program

Member of Committee 140 Allers

Ms. Nour El Houda Amhez, Food Security Consultant Food Security Program

Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: August 24th, 2023

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	Makoukji	Mariana		
_	Last	First	Middle	

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

 \boxtimes As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my thesis.

Two years from the date of submission of my thesis.

Three years from the date of submission of my thesis.

September 5th, 2023

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all those with whom I have had the pleasure to work during this project. Each of the members of my Supervisory Committee has provided me with the professional guidance that I needed. First and foremost, I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my dedicated advisor, Dr. Rami Zurayk and co-advisor Dr. Hala Ghattas, whose invaluable guidance, and unwavering support have been instrumental in shaping this research project. Additionally, I am thankful to the numerous researchers and experts in the field whose insightful works have paved the way for my research.

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my family for their constant encouragement, support, and understanding throughout my years of study, and specifically during the highs and lows of this thesis journey. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thank you.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Mariana Youssef Makoukji

for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Food Security

Title: Exploring the dynamics of Food Security in the Karantina Neighborhood in Relation to the Beirut Port Explosion

In 2020, prices of food and all commodities, increased drastically, due to the deterioration of the national currency, the Lebanese Lira, and this increase in prices directly affected households' purchasing power and access to food. On August 4th, 2020, a massive explosion hit the Port of Beirut, destroying Lebanon's capital, killing over 200 people and wounding more than 5,000. Now, three years after the devastating port explosion, the impact of the economic crisis still echoes more than ever before. With the lack of urgent economic reforms and an uncaring corrupted government, more Lebanese and refugee families are being pushed further into poverty, with nearly three million in Lebanon needing humanitarian assistance.

This research aimed to assess the food security status of the permanent residents of Karantina neighborhood after the Beirut port explosion in Lebanon. It examined whether the food and nutrition security situation of the permanent residents of Karantina improved after the explosion, with all the assistance received, and whether the improvement lasted in the long-term.

A sample consisting of 100 randomly selected households, or 33% of the Karantina population, was surveyed. A questionnaire was administered, including five parts: the socio-demographics of the Karantina population, the Food Insecurity Experience Scale (FIES) to study food security, the Food Consumption Score (FCS) to study diet diversity and quality, the Livelihood Coping Strategies, and the assistance received after the explosion. The data was gathered during three time points, six months before the explosion, six months after the explosion, and two years after the explosion.

The results showed that the percentage of food secure households decreased from 71% six months after the explosion, to 2% two years after the explosion. And the percentage of households with acceptable food consumption, decreased from 96% six months after the explosion, to 30% two years after the explosion. There has been a significant decrease in people's incomes and employment status two years after the explosion, in addition, the percentage of people who were in debt also significantly increased. 95% of the population were adopting crisis coping strategies, making them more vulnerable to future shocks. All the households received food assistance six months after the explosion, and 76% received cash assistance, however, these stopped after 6 months to 1 year after the explosion. Household size, debt, the head of the household's educational

attainment and employment, increased income, and receiving cash assistance were all positively correlated with being food secure and having acceptable food consumption score.

In conclusion, the assistance received by the permanent residents of Karantina after the explosion was associated with better food security and food consumption score at the time of the incident but not with long term food security and food consumption. This is explained by the deterioration of the economic situation in Lebanon since 2020, the multiple crises that affected the country, disabled the Karantina population from being able to cope properly. Most of the households fell deeper into poverty in 2022, many lost their source of income, most of them were falling into debt and this worsened their food security status.

Keywords: Food Security – Beirut Blast – Assistance – Vulnerable populations – Lebanon.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
ABSTRACT	2
ILLUSTRATIONS	7
TABLES	8
INTRODUCTION	10
A. Hypothesis	12
B. Research question	12
1. Research sub-questions	12
LITERATURE REVIEW	13
A. Healthy diets	13
1. Definition of a healthy diet	13
2. Benefits of a healthy diet	13
3. Relationship between diets and health, with a special focus on the MENA region	14
B. Food and nutrition security after conflict and crises	16
1. Difference between Food Security and Nutrition Security	16
2. Food and nutrition security after conflict and crises	17
3. Humanitarian assistance after conflicts and crises	18
4. Food assistance in conflict and crises	18
5. Cash assistance and food security, post-conflict	21
C. Eating patterns	25
1. Global eating patterns	25

2 V	. Eating trends and behaviors in Lebanon, pre-explosion, and the shift to the Vestern eating behaviors	.26
3 p	. Eating trends and behaviors in Lebanon, pre-explosion, among vulnerable opulations	.27
4	. Food consumption patterns in Lebanon, post-explosion	.27
D.	Food and nutrition security in Lebanon after the August 4 th explosion	. 28
MET	THODOLOGY	32
A.	Location (Study area)	. 32
B.	General methodology and data collection	. 37
C.	Target population	. 37
D.	Sampling framework	. 38
E.	Data collection	. 39
1	. Socio-demographic	. 39
2	. Socio-demographic questions	. 40
3	. Food Consumption Score	.41
4	. Food Insecurity Experience Scale	. 43
5	. Livelihood coping strategies	. 44
F.	Statistical analysis	. 45
G.	Testing the validity of the recall	. 46
H.	Ethical considerations	. 47
RES	ULTS AND DISCUSSION	48
A.	Results	. 48
1	. Socio-demographics	. 48
2	. Food Consumption Score	. 53
3	. Food Insecurity Experience Scale	. 63

4	Livelihood coping strategies	
B.	Discussion	70
C.	Limitations	
CON	NCLUSION	83
A.	Conclusion	
B.	Recommendations	
APP	ENDIX	90
REF	ERENCES	106

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure

1.	Map showing the building damage assessment after the Beirut blast (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021)	. 36
2.	Map showing the Karantina neighborhood (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021)	. 36
3.	FCS the standard Food Groups and current standard weights (WFP, 2008)	. 42
4.	Food insecurity severity along a continuous scale of severity (FAO, 2013)	. 43
5.	Percentage of households with acceptable food consumption based on receiva of cash assistance 6 months after the explosion	1 . 62
6.	Percentage of food secure households based on receival of cash assistance 6 months after the explosion	. 67

TABLES

Table

1. Socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent residents of Karantina 6 months after the explosion
2. Socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent residents of Karantina 2 years after the explosion
3. Pearson chi2 test of socio-demographics 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
4. Pearson chi2 test of dairy consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
5. Pearson chi2 test of chicken and meat consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
6. Pearson chi2 test of eggs consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
7. Pearson chi2 test of pulses consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
8. Pearson chi2 test of fruits consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
9. Pearson chi2 test of vegetables consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion
10. Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution of continuous data
11. Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution of continuous recall data
12. Food Consumption Scores during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina
13. Bivariate Food Consumption Scores during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina
14. Food Insecurity measured by the FIES during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina
15. Bivariate Food Insecurity measured by the FIES during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina
16. Bivariate logistic regression between FCS and socio-demographics 2 years after the explosion

17. Bivariate logistic regression between FIES and socio-demographics 6 months after the explosion
18. Pearson chi2 test of income between recall and baseline data
19. Pearson chi2 test of total expenditure between recall and baseline data
20. Pearson chi2 test of FIES before the explosion between recall and baseline data.
21. Pearson chi2 test of FIES after the explosion between recall and baseline data 90
22. Pearson chi2 test of FCS before the explosion between recall and baseline data
23. Pearson chi2 test of FCS after the explosion between recall and baseline data . 97
24. Pearson chi2 test of food assistance received between recall and baseline data 97
25. Pearson chi2 test of cash assistance received between recall and baseline data.9'

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

On August 4th, 2020, a massive explosion hit the Port of Beirut, destroying Lebanon's capital, and killing over 200 people and wounding more than 5,000 (ACTED, 2020). The devastating explosion destroyed and damaged more than 40,000 buildings within a 10 km radius from the port area, ranging between residential and commercial buildings (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021). The damages did not only hit the buildings and people's lives, the bast also led to the destruction of basic vital supplies stored in the Port of Beirut, including Lebanon's national wheat supply stored in the wheat silos that were heavily destroyed. This negatively affected the food security situation in Lebanon, that was already unstable, due to the economic inflation that hit the country in early 2020 and increasing the cost of many goods in Lebanon. The country's high dependence on imports to satisfy the food market, further exacerbated the situation, because the silos included essential grain reserves, such as wheat, barley, and corn (ACTED, 2020).

Lebanon has faced multiple crises in recent times beginning with an economic downturn in 2019 that is continuing to worsen with time. According to the World Food Programme, food inflation rates in Lebanon soared by 245% between October 2019 and June 2020, as a result of the combined effect of the financial crisis and the COVID-19 outbreak, even before the explosion (WFP, 2020). After the explosion, prices were forecasted to increase, due to the possible disruption in supply chain and consequently reduced availability of food on markets, which was the case. In 2020, prices of food and all commodities, increased drastically, due to the deterioration of the national currency, the Lebanese Lira, and this increase in prices directly affected households' purchasing power and access to food (Kharroubi *et al.*, 2021). In 2021, one year after the devastating port explosion, the impact of the economic crisis still echoed more than ever before. With the lack of urgent economic reforms and an uncaring corrupted government, more Lebanese and refugee families were pushed further into poverty, with nearly three million in Lebanon needing humanitarian assistance (WFP, 2021b).

To make the matters even worse, the COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated the situation. The successive restrictive lockdowns led to the loss of income and purchasing power of the population, shut down of enterprises, and triggered an economic recession (Béné, 2020). In the case of Lebanon, given that the country is enduring a severe and prolonged economic crisis that was ranked among the top three most severe crises globally, food insecurity increased to 39% after the COVID-19 and economic crises. The Lebanese population also faced income reduction scenarios post the crises (Kharroubi *et al.*, 2021). The three causes mentioned above, COVID-19, the Beirut Blast and the already-present corruption in the country, all lead to the conclusion that Lebanon is facing a huge crisis, leading to increased rates of poverty and food insecurity in the country.

In this research, I aim to look at if the food-oriented humanitarian assistance that was received by the permanent residents of Karantina, had persistent and durable impacts, on their food security status, beyond the immediate recovery period, in terms of quantity and quality of the diet. To do this I am going to be looking at recalls of food security status, before, immediately after and two years after the 4th of August Beirut Port explosion. Karantina is a neighborhood that was already an impoverished population, which after the blast, received a lot of food aid.

A. Hypothesis

The hypothesis underpinning this research is as follows: Food and nutrition security of the permanent residents of Karantina improved after the explosion, with all the assistance that was received, but did not last in the long-term.

To be able to accept or reject this hypothesis, the below research questions were developed to be more familiar with the socio-demographics of Karantina, to establish a baseline food security assessment from before the explosion and after, to confirm the type of aid the households received, and finally to assess their food security and dietary diversity two years after the explosion.

B. Research question

Did the food security status of the households in Karantina decline or improve after the August 4th explosion?

1. Research sub-questions

- What are the socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent households of the Karantina neighborhood, immediately after and two years after the Beirut port explosion?
- What kind of assistance (specifically food and cash assistance) did the permanent households of the Karantina neighborhood receive after the explosion? What was their food security in light of the assistance received?
- What was the food and nutritional security status of the permanent residents of the Karantina neighborhood, nearly 2 years after the explosion?

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Healthy diets

1. Definition of a healthy diet

A healthy diet is a diet that minimizes the risk of chronic diseases while achieving optimal human health; it promotes growth and prevents malnutrition (Temple, 2017). A healthy diet is a diversified diet, that includes the consumption of all food groups, daily, and in moderation. It is characterized as *"consuming an appropriate caloric intake focused on a diversity of plant-based and animal-source foods, especially whole grains, fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts and unsaturated oils, poultry, eggs, and fish, while also reducing the consumption of processed meat. Also, replacing saturated fats with unsaturated fats, and consuming small amounts of red meat, processed meat, refined grains, starchy vegetables, highly processed foods and added sugars"* (Willett et al., 2019).

2. Benefits of a healthy diet

According to several studies, healthy diets are positively associated with positive effects on health, inversely associated with adverse negative effects, such as cardiovascular diseases, and have no association with metabolic abnormalities, due to the high consistency of fruits, vegetables, nuts and legumes, and reduced intakes of red meat, in specific processed red meat and sodium (Willett et al., 2019 & Khalil, 2020).

In a study conducted by Willet et al., the authors assessed the nutrient adequacy and prediction of mortality rates of a healthy diet. They found that the adoption a healthy diet would decrease the intake of major unhealthy nutrients and improve the intake of most essential nutrients. Healthy diets increase the consumption of healthy fats (mono and polyunsaturated fatty acids), essential micronutrients, such as zinc, iron, vitamin A and folate, and decrease the consumption of unhealthy saturated fatty acids. As for the mortality rates, it was found that adopting a healthy diet could help in avoiding around 11.1 million deaths per year in 2030 and reducing premature mortality by 19% (Willet et al., 2019).

3. Relationship between diets and health, with a special focus on the MENA region

Within the debates around food security, global attention usually focuses on the problems of undernutrition and the underlying factors that lead to it, such as agricultural production as well as the availability and distribution of resources and food. Although these are important things to think about, our attention should also consider the utilization pillar of food security and our consumption patterns (HLPE, 2020).

A comprehensive view of food security is essential, as food insecurity can manifest in various forms of malnutrition. Globally, malnutrition - in all its forms, including undernutrition, overnutrition and micronutrient deficiencies - remains at excessively high levels, even in the same country. According to the *2020 Global Nutrition Report*, almost one-third of all countries are facing the triple burden of malnutrition, characterized by the concurrent presence of elevated rates of all three forms of malnutrition. In addition to not having sufficient access to food, many people

worldwide, consume low-quality, unhealthy diets that contribute to high rates of dietrelated morbidities, such as obesity, diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and strokes, and in many cases leading to diet-related mortalities (Willett et al., 2019). In fact, in 2020, more than 150 million children were stunted, 50.5 million were wasted and over 38 million were obese, and similarly, more than 2 billion adults were overweight or obese (Global Nutrition Report, 2020). Despite the established relationship between dietary patterns¹ and health and chronic diseases, people are still choosing unhealthy diets and low-quality foods over nutritious and healthy foods (Temple, 2017).

The answer might be attributed to the nutritional transition, characterized by the recent global changes in dietary patterns, wherein people are consuming more saturated fats, sugars, and refined foods, while reducing their intake of fiber-rich foods. This shift can be attributed to the influence of technological advances that have made energy dense, nutrient-poor foods more readily accessible and affordable on the global food markets. The nutritional transition is a result of socio-demographic, economic, epidemiological, and nutritional changes that are increasing in developing countries due to globalization and urbanization (Ghattas, 2014). This transition has been widely experienced by the MENA region in specific, because of globalization, led by social and economic changes. Food consumption and physical activity, which are highly driven by the nutrition transition and influenced by the surrounding environment and markets, directly influence the risk of developing NCDs (Khalil, 2020). This leaves the

¹ Dietary patterns are the combinations and quantities of separate and interdependent components and nutrients in the diets, and the frequency in which they are regularly consumed (FAO & WHO, 2019).

MENA region with the double burden of malnutrition, as it is facing at the same time, high rates of undernutrition and increased rates of overweight and obesity.

NCDs have been on the rise in developing countries and have been widely associated with higher mortality rates (Bahn et al., 2019). In 2015, around 58% of total deaths in the MENA region were attributed to NCDs, with cardio-vascular disease taking the lead, with around 27% of total deaths. Thus, poverty and food insecurity are considered as root causes of the double burden of malnutrition, as overnutrition and undernutrition are found to co-exist within the same communities and sometimes even within the same households in developing countries (Ghattas, 2014). This sets a setback in the way of developing countries to reach Sustainable Development Goal 2: Zero Hunger by 2030 (Bahn et al., 2019).

B. Food and nutrition security after conflict and crises

1. Difference between Food Security and Nutrition Security

Food security is defined by the Food and Agriculture Organization as "food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food to meet their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life" (FAO, 2009).

According to this definition, food security focuses on access to and affordability of food that is safe, nutritious, and consistent with personal preferences, meaning that the nutritional component is present within the wide aspect of food security. However, the nutrition aspect of the definition has long been overlooked or lost in national policies and solutions, with a resulting emphasis on quantity, rather than quality, of food. In the MENA region, previous efforts to address food security have solely focused on food availability, while completely overlooking the other dimensions of food security, which are accessibility, utilization, and stability. These efforts have been proven to be ineffective, and here came the recommendation of using a nutrition lens when tackling food insecurity issues (Hwalla et al., 2016).

It is important in our days, to recognize the difference between the two terms, and understand their synergistic relationship. It is not enough to accommodate people with food but rather people should have constant and equal access to healthy and nutritious food. In today's world, there are widespread food, health, and equity challenges, and this calls for a shift from food security to food and nutrition security to generate access, not just to food but also to healthy and nourishing food (HLPE, 2020).

2. Food and nutrition security after conflict and crises

After crises, such as natural disasters (i.e., floods, earthquakes, etc.), economic collapse, or conflicts, food security is deeply affected, often worsening existing vulnerabilities and creating new challenges for populations. These crises can result in widespread hunger and malnutrition, disproportionately affecting vulnerable populations. People living in areas affected by crises and conflict face severe and acute food insecurity and decreased dietary diversity and quality (ICRC, 2022). In recent years, crises have increased leading to more disruptions in supply chains, price spikes, and reduced access to nutritious foods. Moreover, vulnerable populations, including low-income families and marginalized communities, are more affected by conflict and crises, due to their already-fragile situations, and thus face heightened risks of malnutrition and hunger. Furthermore, the economic aftermath of a crisis can lead to

unemployment and income loss, further limiting individuals' ability to afford and access adequate and healthy food (UNDP, 2008).

3. Humanitarian assistance after conflicts and crises

Humanitarian assistance after conflict and crises plays an important role in fostering sustainable recovery and rebuilding the affected communities. After conflict or crises, humanitarian assistance serves as a first response to the immediate humanitarian needs of the populations, by providing essential resources such as food, cash, clean water, health services, and rehabilitation and shelter. Furthermore, it empowers local communities to regain their self-reliance, re-establish essential services, and revive economic activities, ultimately leading to more resilient communities and sustainable livelihoods (Humanitarian Coalition, 2021). Two main kinds of humanitarian assistance are usually the most addressed after crisis: food assistance and cash assistance.

4. Food assistance in conflict and crises

Food assistance is a crucial component in post-conflict recovery. Food assistance acts as a first response to reduce the affected communities' gaps in food consumptions, alleviate hunger, and contribute to the restoration of the population's food security status. In a paper assessing the impact of food assistance on food insecure populations during conflict, in Mali, the researchers found that food assistance increases the household food and non-food expenditures and the household micro-nutrient consumption. The study also found that food assistance has a protective effect on food security of vulnerable populations (Tranchant et al., 2019).

However, recent studies have been criticizing food assistance, as an only measure, to improve food security. In a study aimed at examining the quality of food aid parcels in South Africa, it was found that food aid parcels included starch-rich foods, protein-source foods (mostly canned), cooking oil, tea bags, sugar, salt, and nonfood items (sanitary and cleaning products). After assessing their nutritional value, they found that the food parcels lacked dietary diversity in items such as dairy, eggs, fruits, and vegetables. These parcels provided the recipients with their macro-nutrient requirements but lacked many micro-nutrient requirements (such as vitamins and minerals), that are vital for human health and normal functioning (Vermeulen et al., 2020). According to the World Health Organization, poor and vulnerable people must live on too little and the wrong kind of food. Thus, food assistance programs must first, meet their immediate needs, and then look for ways to always improve the access of all people to the food needed for a healthy life (WHO & WFP, 1997). Due to the food aid provided to them, people only access staple and processed food, such as grains, flour, sugar, and pasta, and this poses further challenges to their health. Not only will the vulnerable be inhibited from accessing healthy diets, but they will be also deprived of nutrient-adequate diets (FAO, 2020). It has been recently discussed that families who rely on food aid and food assistance, may suffer nutritional deficiencies because so much of the produce is processed rather than fresh (Morris, 2018).

Just as food security includes four important pillars; availability, accessibility, stability, and utilization, food assistance and aid must meet and take into consideration these pillars as well. In their paper titled "Nutrition security is an integral component of food security", the authors criticized the strategies employed in the MENA region to achieve food and nutrition security. These strategies primarily focus on agricultural and

food production, while completely disregarding the more critical components such as the accessibility and quality of the food consumed by the populations. And as a response, the authors suggested recommendations to incorporate nutrition into these pillars and achieve Food and Nutrition Security (Hwalla et al., 2016).

Moreover, despite growing global attention to the importance of healthy and nutrient adequate diets, they appear to be still not affordable for all. All the recommendations do not apply to countries where there are high levels of poverty; it is commonly known that the cost of a diet increases as the quality increases across all regions of the world (SWAC/OECD, 2021). In the SOFI 2020 Report "The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World - Transforming Food Systems for Affordable Healthy Diets", the Food and Agriculture Organization argues that the affordability and accessibility of healthy diets is even more challenging than simply accessing food; there even is a transition from only worrying to access food in general to worrying about the quality of the food to be accessed (FAO, 2020). Through comparing the cost of the diets to household food expenditures, findings from this report concluded that the cost of a healthy diet exceeded the international poverty line, which was established at USD 1.90 purchasing power parity (PPP) per person per day, in 2020, making it unaffordable for the poor. In fact, the cost of healthy diets is 60% higher than the cost of nutrient adequate diets (diets that only meet the requirements for essential nutrients), and five times the cost of energy sufficient diets (diets that only meet the dietary energy needs through a starchy staple - the diet that most of the poor can afford). Thus, the high cost and unaffordability of healthy diets is associated with increasing food insecurity and different forms of malnutrition, including child stunting and adult obesity. As stated earlier, these numbers are on the rise, and are expected to continue rising, as people's

incomes are expected to decline and the cost of food to increase, especially in countries of the South, such as Asia, Africa, and the Middle East (FAO, 2020).

5. Cash assistance and food security, post-conflict

The purchasing power of a population has a major impact on their food security status, especially in times of crisis. Vulnerable, low-income populations are usually heavily impacted by crises and disasters and are more likely to take a longer time to recover. This is due to many reasons, such as the loss of the breadwinner, the elimination of income, and loss of habitat. After a shock, such as natural disasters, many families lose their only source of income, be it the death of the head of the household, or the loss of their job, due to injury or disability (FSIN, 2023). Leading us to conclude that food security is highly linked to economic state. Lower economic status means the reliance on less nutritious food options. This is argued in the paper "Use of the Food Insecurity Experience Scale to assess food security status in Ireland, 2014-17: a cross-sectional analysis", where the authors found a strong association between food security status and financial life index. This paper studied the effect of Ireland economic crash in 2007 on the food security status of the population. The study found that food security status is affected by education, employment status, and low income (Ahmadi, 2018).

In their study "Household food insecurity after the early monsoon flash flood of 2017 among wetland (Haor) communities of northeastern Bangladesh: a cross-sectional study", the researchers assessed the post-flood household food insecurity of communities living in northeastern Bangladesh, following the devastating monsoon flash flood in 2017, using the Household Food Insecurity Access Scale (HFIAS)

(Parvez et al., 2022). The findings show 62% of the surveyed households experienced food insecurity following the flash flood. Several factors were identified as significant risk factors of food insecurity, including poverty, debt, lack of education, and relying on market purchase of food. As a conclusion, the authors recommended looking at the risk factors, and combining disaster management initiatives with food security programs to reduce food insecurity post crises (Parvez et al., 2022).

Therefore, cash assistance is a possible intervention to be considered in the context of crises. In a study evaluating the Somalia cash-based response after a drought in 2017, it was found that cash assistance was an appropriate and beneficial response after the drought; it fostered resilience among the population and had positive impacts on food security. Cash-based assistance in Somalia helped mitigate the short-term impact of the drought on the purchasing power of the population, due to the cash they received, people were still able to access food and other basic needs (Daniels & Anderson, 2018).

Cash assistance should also be constant and last in the long-term. In a paper assessing the impact of assistance on poverty and food security in a state of protracted crisis, of Palestinian households in the Gaza Strip, the researchers found a positive impact of assistance on food consumption, dietary diversity, and on poverty reduction. In the study, data from the 2013 and 2014 rounds of the Palestinian Socio-Economic and Food Security survey, were used. The results also found that although the positive impacts were found, Palestinian households were at risk of experiencing a diminished food security status, since the international assistance was slowly fading for these communities. These results highlight how the international organizations should not disregard future implications of ending of cash assistance, especially in areas of

protracted crisis. Because these populations are vulnerable and dependent on assistance, any stopping of assistance will severely impact the wellbeing of the households in the future (Romano et al., 2020). Similar results were found in the study "Cash assistance programming and changes over time in ability to meet basic needs, food insecurity and depressive symptoms in Raqqa Governorate, Syria", where the researchers found that short-term emergency cash assistance after times of conflict and crises, yields significant improvements in food security. Households were spending the cash assistance on essential food groups, such as rice, dairy and even meat. However, the findings showed that the economic relief was temporary, as people were sure that once the program ends and the cash assistance stops, they would go back to their earlier states. They would have to resort back to borrowing money to purchase food and be able to provide for their families' basic needs (Falb et al., 2020).

In another paper titled "Social cash assistance for food security during a disaster: lesson learned from Indonesia", the researchers wanted to identify how families in Indonesia who were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic took advantage of the social cash assistance they received. The findings show that the cash assistance was primarily used for basic needs, especially for food, and lasted about two to three weeks. Thus, they found that cash assistance strengthens food security, by providing families with their daily needs. However, the study recommends that cash assistance should last throughout the entire time of the crisis, in the case of the study, the Covid-19 pandemic. The reasons behind the need for a prolonged assistance period, is that during a crisis, be it immediate or protracted, incomes are not fixed, so, providing capital for families increases family income sustainably, and thus maintains food security (Susanty et al., 2023).

A study in Lebanon also highlighted the importance of long-term and constant cash assistance for the vulnerable. In 2018-2020, CAMEALEON conducted an assessment of the effects of multi-purpose cash assistance on Syrian refugees residing in Lebanon. The study involved a sample size of 11,457 Syrian refugee households situated in the regions of Bekaa, North Lebanon, and Mount Lebanon. The multipurpose cash assistance assessed in the study was the 2017 collaboration between the World Food Programme (WFP), the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), and various non-governmental organizations (NGOs). The collaboration aimed to provide multi-purpose cash (MPC) aid to the most economically vulnerable Syrian refugee households in Lebanon, enabling them to meet their basic needs. Households were offered a monthly unconditional transfer of \$27 per person, accompanied by a supplementary payment of \$173.50 to Syrian refugee households. This combined assistance aimed to enhance their access to food and basic necessities throughout a 12-month cycle (CAMEALEON, 2020).

The two-year study aimed to assess both short-term impacts (occurring within 12 months or less) and long-term effects (spanning beyond 12 months) attributed to the \$173.50 and \$175 MPC support provided by the WFP and UNHCR, respectively, in addition to the \$27 per person monthly assistance. The study also sought to investigate the impact of discontinuing MPC on the well-being of Syrian refugees, mainly household expenditures, food security, housing, water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), education, employment, health, and decision-making processes (CAMEALEON, 2020).

The research findings indicated that the majority of the MPC's impact became evident in the long term (beyond 12 months), while its short-term effects were limited. Across the various dimensions of well-being, the long-term impact of MPC was

substantial, indicating the importance of households' access to a longer duration of MPC. Furthermore, the study revealed that the positive impact of MPC fades within a timeframe of 4 to 10 months following the ending of assistance, with households returning to their pre-assistance well-being levels. These findings suggest the potential benefits of implementing extended cash assistance cycles or integrating MPC with other services through a 'cash plus' approach. Such an approach can amplify and prolong the positive influence of cash assistance on beneficiary households, ensuring a sustainable impact over time (CAMEALEON, 2020).

C. Eating patterns

1. Global eating patterns

Globally, the average intake of healthy foods is lower than the recommended daily intake, whereas the overconsumption of unhealthy foods is higher than the recommended intake. In the Summary Report of the EAT-Lancet Commission, they compared the daily intake of food to the recommended intake in the EAT Lancet diet, referred to as Health boundaries (100%), and it showed that, worldwide, the consumption of starchy vegetables, red meat, and eggs is excessively high with 293%, 288% and 153% respectively. Whereas the consumption of healthy foods, such as fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and nuts, are consumed in very low amounts, lower than the recommended and needed intakes for a healthy and nutritious life (EAT, 2019).

2. Eating trends and behaviors in Lebanon, pre-explosion, and the shift to the Western eating behaviors

As a result of globalization and urbanization, the Lebanese population has recently undertaken a nutritional transition in their food preferences and choices. They transitioned from the "traditional Mediterranean²" diet to the "Westernized" fast food³ and "high protein" diets. This is characterized by an increased consumption of energy-dense and fat-dense foods that are of no nutritional value, especially in the young adult population. This shift has been characterized by a decreased consumption of fruits and vegetables, and an increased consumption of fried food, sugar sweetened beverages, carbonated beverages, and desserts (Salameh et al., 2014). These results were reported among adults and young adults.

In a study, "dietary patterns and their association with obesity and sociodemographic factors in a national sample of Lebanese adults", of 2,048 Lebanese adults aged between 20 and 55 years, four dietary patterns were identified: Western pattern, traditional Lebanese pattern, prudent pattern, and fish and alcohol pattern. The most frequently identified pattern was the Western diet, followed by the traditional Lebanese diet that is highly characterized by fruits, vegetables, legumes, dairy, olive oil and burghul (Naja et al., 2011). This shift in dietary preferences has also been reported among the young adult population in Lebanon.

² Traditional diet inspired by the eating habits of people who live near the Mediterranean Sea, and adopted in the Mediterranean region, especially in Lebanon.

³ Fast Food: An empty calorie food. An empty calorie food is a high calorie or calorie rich food which lacks in micro-nutrients such as vitamins, minerals, or amino acids, and fiber but has high energy (calories). These foods don't contain the nutrients that the human body needs to stay healthy (Ashakiran & Deepthi, 2012).

3. Eating trends and behaviors in Lebanon, pre-explosion, among vulnerable populations

In another paper, Sahyoun et al., assessed the food security status of vulnerable populations in Lebanon, Arab Family Food Security Scale (AFFSS), which was validated with data on two vulnerable populations in Lebanon, Southern Lebanon residents and Palestinian refugees (2014). The study found that 42% of the Southern Lebanese households were food insecure, and 62% of the Palestinian refugee households, were food secure. They also found that higher monthly income and higher educational attainment of the head of household were associated with a reduced risk of food insecurity. Additionally, the researchers observed a strong significant association between food insecurity and lower food expenditure per capita.

4. Food consumption patterns in Lebanon, post-explosion

In their national cross-sectional study, "Exploring the Impact of Crises on Food Security in Lebanon: Results from a National Cross-Sectional Study", the researchers aimed to investigate the prevalence and factors associated with food insecurity among Lebanese households following the COVID-19 pandemic, financial crisis, and Beirut port explosion (Hoteit et al., 2021). The study utilized household food security indicators, such as the food consumption score (FCS), the food insecurity experience scale (FIES), and coping strategies. The results demonstrated that 53% of the population had a low food consumption score, while 29% had an acceptable score. A significant number of the households consumed non-diversified food groups, with nine out of sixteen households having less than 2 meals per day and over 70% of households

skipping meals. Additionally, almost all households consumed main food groups less than 3 days per week. The households with poor food consumption scores primarily relied on cereals and vegetables, with low intake of pulses, fruits, dairy products, and meat. The study also found that one in two households experienced severe food insecurity (Hoteit et al., 2021). These findings highlight the critical issue of food insecurity among households Beirut, Lebanon, primarily resulting from the ongoing crises faced by the country.

D. Food and nutrition security in Lebanon after the August 4th explosion

The effect of the 4th of August explosion on Lebanon's food security has been immense and long-lasting, and the country was still recovering from its impact, two years after the explosion. However, the blast was not the only factor, coupled with the economic crisis faced by the country since October 2019, Lebanon faced many challenges in terms of food security and livelihoods (IPC, 2022). Lebanon continues to face a severe economic crisis, which has had a significant impact on the food security status of the population. The economic crisis has led to the currency depreciation, high inflation, and increasing food and non-food prices, making it increasingly challenging for households to access and afford an adequate and nutritious diet (WFP, 2022). In fact, the local currency, Lebanese Lira, lost more than 94% of its value since the start of the crisis, and in 2022, food prices rose by 208%, the average monthly wage of Lebanese residents covered only 29% of the minimum expenditure basket, unemployment rates increased by 30%, and the removal of subsidies resulted in significant increases in the prices of food and non-food commodities such as health, fuel, transport, and others (IPC, 2022). All these affected the food security situation of Lebanese households.

In their report "Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis of Lebanese Residents", the World Food Programme provided an assessment of the food security situation and vulnerability of Lebanese residents in 2021 (WFP, 2022). The report included a sample size of 9,900 households from all over Lebanon. According to the report, 46% of Lebanese households were experiencing food insecurity between June and December 2021. Household dietary diversity and food consumption also significantly worsened in 2021. Based on the food consumption score, 41% of the population consumed inadequate diets, of which 13% had poor food consumption and 28% had borderline food consumption, between August and September 2021. Families had decreased access to nutritious food groups, and were mainly relying on staples, oils, and sugar. While their consumption of highly nutritious food that had high micronutrient contents and high-quality animal proteins decreased, such as fruits, vegetables, dairy and meat (WFP, 2022).

The report also identified increasing numbers of families facing challenges to access high quality food. Many families adopted coping strategies to manage their food shortages. The report adopted two kinds of coping strategies, food based coping strategies⁴ and livelihood coping strategies⁵. For the former, 90% of the households were consuming less preferred or less expensive foods, 60% of the households limited their portion sizes, and 41% of the households reduced the number of meals eaten per day. As for the latter, 76% of the families were adopting livelihood coping strategies in

⁴ These strategies include the immediate change of food consumption patterns in a household.

⁵ These strategies are coping behaviors that cause changes in income earning activities and affect the capacity of families to generate income in the future.

2021. More than half the households borrowed money to purchase food, and 71% of the households reduced their expenses on health and education (WFP, 2022).

The situation got even worse in 2022, in the report, the "Integrated Food Security Phase Classification (IPC) Acute Food Insecurity Analysis" report in Lebanon, the researchers examined the food insecurity situation in Lebanon from September to December 2022 and projected the situation from January to April 2023 (IPC, 2022). This report highlighted the worsening food security situation in Lebanon and predicted that the food security situation in Lebanon will continue to worsen in 2023. The depreciation of the currency and the ongoing economic crisis are expected to persist, further driving up food prices and making it increasingly difficult for people to afford basic necessities.

The IPC report showed that 49% of the Lebanese population consumed inadequate diets, of which 18% had poor food consumption score and 31% had borderline food consumption score, in 2022. The report also analyzed the situation of Syrian refugees in Lebanon; 57% of Syrian refugees consumed inadequate diets, of which 18% had poor food consumption score and 39% had borderline food consumption score. As for livelihood coping strategies, 9% of Lebanese households adopted emergency coping strategies, and 68% adopted crisis coping strategies. As for Syrian refugees, 13% adopted emergency coping strategies, and 56% of adopted crisis coping strategies (IPC, 2022).

As a summary, these reports show a strong link between food insecurity and unemployment, unstable livelihoods, and lack of access to education and health services. And despite receiving significant levels of cash assistance, the decline in purchasing power, inflation, unfavorable currency exchange rates, and soaring food

prices are reducing the effectiveness of humanitarian food assistance in addressing food consumption gaps. This emphasizes the importance of addressing the underlying causes of the food security in Lebanon. This highlights the importance of providing long-term humanitarian assistance to vulnerable populations, through delivering sustainable comprehensive interventions that focus on improving household incomes and enhancing access to nutritious and affordable food for all Lebanese residents (WFP, 2022 & IPC, 2022).

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

The core of the thesis is to see how the food security situation of the permanent residents of Karantina, changed six months and two years after the Beirut Port explosion in 2020. This will be accomplished by addressing the following research questions:

- What are the socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent households of the Karantina neighborhood, immediately after and two years after the Beirut port explosion?
- What kind of assistance (specifically food and cash assistance) did the permanent households of the Karantina neighborhood receive after the explosion? What was their food security in light of the assistance received?
- What was the food and nutritional security status of the permanent residents of the Karantina neighborhood, nearly 2 years after the explosion?

A. Location (Study area)

Karantina, a neighborhood located near the Port of Beirut, was one of the most affected by the blast. It is historically a low-income community and is home for some of the poorest families in Lebanon, as well as Syrian refugees. A series of recent crises – political, economic and a major explosion – have put pressure on the region, with adverse impacts on the population's food security. This region was one of the most affected by the triple crisis that hit Lebanon; its households were already hardly hit by the economic crisis pre-pandemic, the pandemic itself and the economic decline caused

by it, and finally the disastrous August 4th port explosion in 2020 (ACTED, 2020). The explosion is thought to have worsened their economic situation: many of Karantina's residents worked either at the port or close to it, and some lost their jobs after the explosion, negatively affecting their already precarious socio-economic and living conditions. (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

Karantina is historically a low-income community. Traditionally, it served as an agricultural area within the city and was a settlement area for several poverty-stricken communities who used to work at the port or in the slaughterhouse in the area. Among these communities are the Palestinians, Kurds and settled Bedouins (Arabs). In addition, it was traditionally home to poor Lebanese Christians who live side by side with the other settled communities. During the civil war, the region was the site of a major battle which resulted in the expulsion of a large part of the non-Christian population. In fact, it was the first large-scale massacre driven by the idea of ethnic cleansing. Then, at the end of the civil war, the settled populations started to swell again. And after 2011, the population was joined by the Syrians, as the area provided extremely low cost of housing and living. Currently, Karantina hosts crowded low-income households of Lebanese, Syrian refugees, and migrant workers (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

The Karantina neighborhood has one of the lowest population densities in Beirut, with approximately 300 residential buildings, and is divided into two main residential zones: Al-Saydeh neighborhood and Al-Khodor neighborhood. These two neighborhoods differ significantly, Al-Saydeh neighborhood, named after El-Saydeh Church, used to be directly connected to Mar Mikhael, and maintains a large number of its Christian population. In addition, it is a host to a small number of Armenians and migrant workers. On the other hand, the Al-Khodor Neighborhood, named after the Al-
Khodor Mosque, hosts Lebanese Sunni Muslims and large a concentration of Syrian refugees.

Many of the residents of Karantina lived in poverty and have poor living conditions, even from before the blast. Most of the buildings' structures had signs of deterioration, and these conditions have severely worsened after the blast. In addition to poor infrastructure, the Karantina area is not connected to the rest of Beirut through public transport, making it hard for its residents to navigate outside of the city. The Beirut Urban Lab considered it as an issue since the area itself lacks many social facilities, such as schools, markets, grocery stores, and even though it may have a governmental hospital, where people can go by foot, the Karantina hospital lacks medical clinics, and can be a little too expensive for the poor residents of the neighborhood (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

As for the situation after the blast, immediately after the blast, many organizations rushed to the scene and started giving out assistance. According to the Beirut Urban Lab, five modalities of interventions have been identified in Karantina, humanitarian and immediate emergency aid, short term building repairs, zone recovery interventions, long-term recovery interventions, and a small-scale punctual intervention to rehabilitate the Karantina public park. The main actors included were Offre Joie, Borderless, the UNDP, International Medical Corps, and the Norwegian Refugee Council. Even the humanitarian assistance has been divided into the two neighborhoods, Offre Joie focused primarily on the Al-Saydeh neighborhood for rehabilitation, while other organizations like Ahlak W Nasak and Beirut for Social Development focused on Al-Khodor neighborhood (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

The explosion was massively talked about, and reached international coverage. It is not important to talk about the reasons behind the explosion, what is important to mention is that the explosion was huge, destroying Lebanon's capital, and killing over 200 people and wounding more than 5,000 (ACTED, 2020). The devastating explosion destroyed and damaged more than 40,000 buildings within a 10 km radius from the port area, ranging between residential and commercial buildings (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

The Karantina neighborhood was one of the most affected areas after the explosion, and all the non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and people rushed to action, it was very mediatized, people moved from all around the world, and all the Lebanese went down to the streets to help. Five main actors were involved in relief aid in Karantina, they helped the people out and helped in the repair of damaged buildings as well. People were provided with food parcels for over one year, community kitchens, household repair, and cash assistance for around six months. However, the rebuilding and rehabilitation work, along with the number of NGOs and volunteers appeared to be unevenly distributed between the different neighborhoods (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021). Nevertheless, around one year after the explosion, most of the NGOs left the area, and the community went back to being like the rest of the country, they went back to being affected by the economic crisis that hit Lebanon in 2019 (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021).

Thus, due to its high vulnerability, the Karantina neighborhood (shown in figures 1 and 2 below) was chosen as the site of study for this research. Moreover, it was one of twelve neighborhoods that were most severely affected by the Beirut blast, and one of the most regions to have received international and national assistance (WFP, 2020).



Figure 1. Map showing the building damage assessment after the Beirut blast (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021)



Figure 2. Map showing the Karantina neighborhood (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021)

Between the period when NGOs left Karantina and that I gathered the data, the \$ exchange rate increased as an indication of the deterioration of the economic situation. The \$ exchange rate at the time of data collection was 22,000 LBP (in March 2022).

B. General methodology and data collection

The goal of this research is to investigate the change in food security following the aid and support that followed the August 4th explosion, in the population of the Karantina neighborhood, in Lebanon. The questionnaire (shown in Appendix III) collected quantitative data about the residents' socio-demographics, livelihoods, assistance received, food consumption, food security situation, and coping strategies, through a questionnaire that was filled by the researcher via the online app Survey123. The questionnaire used was developed for the purpose of this research, with the help of my committee member Dr. Hala Ghattas. The interviews were conducted between February 2022 and March 2022 and were conducted using a recall during three time periods; before the explosion (6 months prior to the explosion), during the explosion (and 6 months after), and now (March 2022) (nearly 2 years after the explosion).

Normality testing was performed for the analysis, and any non-normal variables were categorized. All the variables did not follow a normal distribution, and therefore, were all categorized. Household size and education of the head of the households were categorized into 3 categories and 4 categories, respectively. Income and expenditures were transformed into quintiles. The data are listed in table 10 in Appendix II.

C. Target population

The target population is the permanent residents in the Karantina region where the AUB Land Food Project⁶ was being deployed. One representative from each

⁶ Following the August 4 explosion, the AUB's Land Food Recovery Initiative was created as a disaster response. The goal of this project was to introduce sustainable food practices and create open spaces that contribute to the long-term food security and mental and social well-being of communities in Karantina, the immediate priority was to improve food security in Karantina (AUB, 2020).

permanent household in Karantina was interviewed. The chosen households and interviewees had to meet the inclusion criteria. The households must be permanent households of the Karantina, and the interviewee had to be a male or female adult member aging between 18 and 65 years, who is familiar enough with the household and able to answer questions related to their socio-demographics and food consumption.

D. Sampling framework

The sample population was chosen following a systematic approach: interview one household and skip two households (even if in same building). In total, 100 randomly selected households out of a total of 300 households in Karantina were interviewed, making up 1/3 (33%) of the population. According to the Beirut Urban Lab, in their report "Karantina Urban Snapshot", in 2021, there were around 120 Syrian families in Karantina, 200 Lebanese families, and 15 to 20 migrant workers, adding up to around 330 households. However, to have more accurate numbers, a mayor of the Karantina region was interviewed, he stated that there are around 300 permanent households living in Karantina.

Each household was administered a one-to-one interview that was answered by whoever was present and self-identified as the head of the household, these included mothers, fathers, and adult children. The questionnaire covered a set of questions that allows the understanding of the household demographics, the assessment of the food and nutrition security status, and the effect of the explosion on their conditions, during the three time periods; before the explosion (6 months prior to the explosion), during the explosion (and 6 months after), and now (nearly 2 years after the explosion).

Face-to-face interviews were chosen to have a more accurate assessment of the households, and reliable results. Due to it being a critical subject, food security assessment is best performed in person, especially when dealing with a vulnerable population, as they would be hard to reach via online modes. By doing so, the researcher was able to clearly explain the objective of the survey to the participants, and if they were interested, the interview would begin. Moreover, the researcher was able to keep the interviewees focused throughout the whole interview, and the completion of the surveys was guaranteed, so there would be no missing data. Finally, the participants would refrain from delivering any false statements, especially when it comes to socio-demographic data; if it was an online platform, there would be no guarantee that the answers are truthful and accurate (Vogl, 2013).

E. Data collection

After introducing the project to each of the 100 heads of household, the interviews were conducted using six indicators:

1. Socio-demographic

- a. Food Expenditure share
- b. Assistance received
- 2. Food Consumption Score
- 3. Food Insecurity Experience Scale
- 4. Livelihood Coping strategies

2. Socio-demographic questions

This section of the questionnaire used a set of 30 questions that allowed the exploration of the socioeconomic demographics of the target population. These include questions about household demographics, household size, age groups, education, employment, income, expenditure, and debt.

This part of the questionnaire was inspired from the Arab Family Food Security Scale (AFFSS). The AFFSS is a food security tool validated to be used in Lebanon, on Lebanese citizens and Palestinian refugees. It consists of questions about sociodemographics, such as age, gender, educational attainment of the head of household, employment, household income, expenses, expenditures on food, meal sizes and frequencies of consumptions and coping strategies to secure money for food, such as receiving help from relatives, borrowing money, or staying without food (Sahyoun et al., 2014).

a. Food Expenditure Share

The Food Expenditure Share (FES) is a proxy indicator of food security, used to measure a household's economic vulnerability (Smith et al., 2007). The FES is calculated by dividing the household's expenditure on food by their total expenditure and then multiplying it by 100, this would generate a percentage. The results are classified into these following four categories: households spending over 75% of their income on food are considered very vulnerable and food insecure, people spending 65-75% of their income on food have high food insecurity, people spending 50-65% of their income on food have medium food insecurity; and those spending less than 50% of their income on food have low food insecurity (Smith et al., 2007). The FES indicates

that the larger the share of a household's income is spent on food, the poorer and more vulnerable it is. This indicator was used in the vulnerability assessment of Syrian refugees in Lebanon (VASyR, 2021).

b. Assistance received after the explosion

This section of the questionnaire used a set of 4 yes or no questions that allowed the exploration of the kind of assistance received by the Karantina region. These included questions about the kind of assistance received by the participants after the explosion. The questions were whether the assistance was in-kind food assistance, cash assistance, non-food in-kind assistance, such as clothes and hygiene products, and whether they received services such as maintenance and repair of the houses and cars.

3. Food Consumption Score

This section of the questionnaire used the Food Consumption Score (FCS) indicator that allowed the exploration of the food consumption and dietary diversity of the population, during the three time periods mentioned above.

The Food Consumption Score (FCS), developed by the WFP and validated for international use, is a quantitative tool used by calculating and analyzing the frequency of consumption of 9 different food groups consumed within a household, during the week preceding the survey. These food groups encompass cereals and tubers, dairy products, poultry and meat, fish, eggs, pulses and legumes, vegetables, fruits, oils and fats, sugar, and beverages. Each food group is assigned a specific weight, as listed in figure 3, that contributes to the overall food consumption score. The cumulative weighted frequency of household consumption can range from 0 to 112, with higher

scores indicating a more varied and nutritious diet. A score of 112 indicates the consumption of all food groups every day for a 7-day period. (WFP, 2008).

	FOOD ITEMS (examples)	Food groups (definitive)	Weight (definitive)
1	Maize , maize porridge, rice, sorghum, millet pasta, bread and other cereals	Main staples	2
	Cassava, potatoes and sweet potatoes, other tubers, plantains		
2	Beans. Peas, groundnuts and cashew nuts	Pulses	3
3	Vegetables, leaves	Vegetables	1
4	Fruits	Fruit	1
5	Beef, goat, poultry, pork, eggs and fish	Meat and fish	4
6	Milk yogurt and other diary	Milk	4
7	Sugar and sugar products, honey	Sugar	0.5
8	Oils, fats and butter	Oil	0.5
9	spices, tea, coffee, salt, fish power, small amounts of milk for tea.	Condiments	0

Figure 3. FCS the standard Food Groups and current standard weights (WFP, 2008)

Due to the high consumption of cereals, sugar, and oil in Karantina, the World Food Programme cutoff points (0-21: poor food consumption, 21.5-35: borderline food consumption, and > 35: acceptable food consumption) were not used in this study (WFP, 2008). In this study the adjusted cutoff points have been used: 0-28: poor food consumption, 28.5-42, borderline food consumption, and > 42: acceptable food consumption. These cutoff points were used in two recent studies:

- Exploring the Impact of Crises on Food Security in Lebanon: Results from a National Cross-Sectional Study (Hoteit et al., 2021).
- The Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis of Lebanese Residents (WFP, 2022).

The analysis of the Food Consumption Score will lead to determining the dietary diversity and quality of the residents of Karantina.

4. Food Insecurity Experience Scale

The Food Insecurity Experience Scale (FIES), developed by the FAO and validated for international use, consists of eight yes or no questions that assess people's ability to access adequate food. This scale measures the severity of food insecurity across three levels: mild, moderate, and severe. A lower score indicates a less severe level of food insecurity. The questions primarily explore self-reported, food-related behaviors and experiences related to food access challenges caused by limited resources. The questions reflect the individual respondent's or their household's experiences (FAO, 2013). The eight questions focus on: being worried about food, being unable to eat healthy and nutritious food, eating few kinds of food, skipping meals, eating less, running out of food, hunger, and spending entire day without food. And as the questions go from 1 to 8, the level of food insecurity increases. By utilizing this tool, we can assess the presence and severity of food insecurity among the permanent residents of Karantina.

Mild food insecurity		Severe food insecurity	
Worrying about how	Compromising on quality	Reducing quantities,	Experiencing
to procure food	and variety	skipping meals	hunger

Figure 4. Food insecurity severity along a continuous scale of severity (FAO, 2013)

The cutoff points used in this study are based on the global standard, and are as follows, 0-3: food secure, 4-6: moderately food insecure, 7-8: severely food insecure.

These cutoff points were used in the following study: "Validity of the Food Insecurity Experience Scale (FIES) for Use in League of Arab States (LAS) and Characteristics of Food Insecure Individuals by the Human Development Index (HDI)" (Sheikomar et al., 2021).

5. Livelihood coping strategies

Coping strategies were identified using the Livelihood Coping Strategies (LCS-FS), developed by the World Food Programme. These were also collected during the three time periods; before the explosion (6 months prior to the explosion), during the explosion (and 6 months after), and now (nearly 2 years after the explosion). It is an indicator of a household's food security, assessing the extent to which households use harmful coping strategies when they do not have enough food or enough money to buy food. The results are categorized into three categories: stress coping, crisis coping, and emergency coping strategies (WFP, 2021c). The three livelihood-based coping strategies are considered as a scale, where stress is the least severe and emergency is the most severe. Stress strategies, including spending savings, borrowing money to purchase food, and selling furniture, indicate a reduced ability to deal with future shocks. Crisis coping strategies, including withdrawing children from school, reducing expenses on education and health, marrying children under the age of 18, directly reduce future productivity, and thus hindering resilience. And emergency coping strategies, including accepting high risk jobs and engaging children in income generating activities, are the most difficult to reverse and the most extreme in nature, where people adopt them as a last resort (VASYR, 2021). This indicator was used in the Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis of Lebanese Residents (WFP, 2022).

F. Statistical analysis

STATA/SE 15.1 was used to analyze the quantitative data from the sociodemographic data, FCS, FIES, coping strategies, and the food expenditure share. Different continuous and categorical variables were used, and the statistical tests were performed through the tabulation of the different variables. The P-value (alpha = 0.05) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI) were used to study the significance of all test results. The tests used for analysis can be found in the following table, and the Stata results can be found in the Appendix II and the results section.

Торіс	Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Test
Socio-demographic	2020 [.]	2022·	Chi-square test
characteristics	Household size	Household size	Chi square test
	Nationality	Nationality	
	Education of head	Education of head	
	of household	of household	
	Employment of	Employment of	
	head of household	head of household	
	Household Income	Household Income	
	Food Expenditure	Food Expenditure	
	Total Expenditure	Total Expenditure	
	Household debt	Household debt	
Food and Nutrition	FCS	Household size	Regression test
Security		Nationality	Regression test
2		Education of head	Regression test
		of household	C
		Employment of	Regression test
		head of household	C
		Household Income	Regression test
		Food Expenditure	Regression test
		Total Expenditure	Regression test
		Household debt	Regression test
	FIES	Household size	Regression test
		Nationality	Regression test
		Education of head	Regression test
		of household	
		Employment of	Regression test
		head of household	
		Household Income	Regression test

		Food Expenditure	Regression test
		Total Expenditure	Regression test
		Household debt	Regression test
Assistance	FCS	Cash assistance	Regression test
	FIES	Cash assistance	Regression test

G. Testing the validity of the recall

It is evident that participants might not remember the needed information accurately, especially the specific quantitative information, due to it being 2 years after the explosion. To verify that the reliance on the recall is valid, a subset of 20 households on whom we had both recall and baseline data, was used, for accordance/discordance between the recall and the baseline. Baseline data was gathered 4 months after the explosion, in December 2020, and the recall data was gathered 2 years after the explosion, in March 2022. The analysis was performed using Pearson's chi-square test on the FIES, FCS, the assistance, and the income and expenditure tertiles. If the answers are similar, this means that the questionnaire is validated, and there is no issue, a quantitative analysis based on the impressions of the participants can be performed.

Before the analysis, normality testing was performed for the recall analysis, and any non-normal variables were categorized. Income and expenditures were transformed into tertiles. The data are listed in table 11 in Appendix II.

There's very strong concordance between the recall and the baseline data, as there are only very few misclassifications. Such as, for the food consumption score before the explosion, the food consumption score after the explosion, and the food insecurity experience scale before the explosion, there were 1 household for each, which was misclassified based on the recall. And for the total income quintiles, 4

households were misclassified based on the recall. As for the total income quantiles, food and cash assistance received after the explosion, and food insecurity experience scale after the explosion, no misclassifications were found. Therefore, there is a strong concordance, and the recall adequately validated the data. The data are listed in tables 18 till 25 in Appendix II.

H. Ethical considerations

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the American University of Beirut (AUB) in October 2021. The IRB approval documents can be found in the Appendix I.

No data was collected without proper explanation of the project and the consent of the participants. The participant had the right to refuse to answer any question and to withdraw from the study any time they wanted. Their questions and inquiries at any time of the interview were carefully addressed. In addition, they were not forced, by any means, to participate. The participants were informed that the purpose of the study is strictly educational, and they will not receive any form of incentive or compensation to participate. Data collection was confidential, and no one except the researcher has the right to access the collected data. The data will be kept stored on a password-protected computer belonging to the researcher during the period of data collection and data analysis, with passwords allowing only the researcher to have access. After data analysis, the data will be stored for four years and then destroyed.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A. Results

1. Socio-demographics

Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent residents of Karantina 6 months after the explosion

Variable	Categories	Frequency
Household Size	1-2	28
	3-4	32
	>=5	40
Nationality	Lebanese	80
	Syrian	20
Education of head of	Never attended	8
household	Elementary	33
	Middle/Highschool	41
	University	18
Employment of head of	Yes	43
household	No	57
Income Quintiles	Low	42
	Lower-Middle	0
	Middle	33
	Upper-Middle	5
	High	20
Food Expenditure	Low	22
Quintiles	Lower-Middle	29
	Middle	14
	Upper-Middle	31
	High	4
Total Expenditure	Low	24
Quintiles	Lower-Middle	19
	Middle	22
	Upper-Middle	18
	High	17
Food Expenditure Share	< 50%	50
_	50-65%	28
	65-75%	16
	> 75%	6
Food Assistance	Yes	100

	No	0
Cash Assistance	Yes	76
	No	24
Debt	Yes	18
	No	82

Table 1 above shows the different sociodemographic characteristics of the permanent residents of the Karantina neighborhood, 6 months after the explosion.

For the household size, 28% of the population had a household size between one and two people, 32% had a household size between three and four people, which is the average household size (Mean = 3.94), and 40% had a household size of more than five people. As for nationalities, 20% of the population were Syrians and 80% were Lebanese. 8% of the heads of the households never attended school, 33% had an elementary education, 41% reached middle and high school, and 18% had a university education.

Six months after the explosion, 57% of the heads of the households had no employment. As for income, 42% of the households were no income earners, 33% were lower income earners (received the bottom 25% of income), 5% were middle income earners (50% - 75% range of income), and 20% were the highest income earners (received the top 25% of income). (These included gifts and donations). In 2020, 49% of the households were above the national minimum wage, which in 2020, was 675,000 LBP, in dollars it was equivalent to 84\$.

As for debt, 6 months after the explosion 18% of the population had debt.

Table 2. Socio-demographic characteristics of the permanent residents of Karantina 2 years after the explosion

Variable	Categories	Frequency
Household Size	1-2	28
	3-4	32

	>=5	40
Nationality	Lebanese	80
5	Svrian	20
Education of head of	Never attended	8
household	Elementary	33
	Middle/Highschool	41
	University	18
Employment of head of	Yes	46
household	No	54
Income Quintiles	Low	31
	Lower-Middle	10
	Middle	19
	Upper-Middle	25
	High	15
Food Expenditure	Low	31
Quintiles	Lower-Middle	15
	Middle	18
	Upper-Middle	16
	High	20
Total Expenditure	Low	20
Quintiles	Lower-Middle	20
	Middle	22
	Upper-Middle	18
	High	20
Food Expenditure Share	< 50%	77
	50-65%	18
	65-75%	2
	> 75%	3
Food Assistance	Yes	0
	No	100
Cash Assistance	Yes	0
	No	100
Debt	Yes	53
	No	47

Table 2 above shows the different sociodemographic characteristics of the permanent residents of the Karantina neighborhood, 2 years after the explosion.

For the household size, 28% of the population had a household size between one and two people, 32% had a household size between three and four people, which is the average household size (Mean = 3.94), and 40% had a household size of more than five people. As for nationalities, 20% of the population were Syrians and 80% were

Lebanese. 8% of the heads of the households never attended school, 33% had an elementary education, 41% reached middle and high school, and 18% had a university education.

Two years after the explosion, 54% of the population's heads of households had no employment. As for income, 2 years after the explosion, 31% of the population were no income earners, 10% were lower income earners (received the bottom 25% of income), 19% were middle income earners (25% - 50% range of income), 25% were upper-middle income earners (50% - 75% range of income), 15% were the highest income earners (received the top 25% of income). (These included gifts and donations). 29% of the households were above the national mimimum wage, which in 2022, was 2,600,000 LBP, in dollars it was equivalent to 118\$.

As for debt, two years after the explosion, 53% of the population had debt.

Variable	Categories	6 months after	2 years after	P-value
		the explosion	the explosion	(alpha = 0.05)
Employment of	Yes	43	46	0.00
head of household	No	57	54	
Income Quintiles	1	42	31	0.00
	2	0	10	
	3	33	19	
	4	5	25	
	5	20	15	
Food Expenditure	1	22	31	0.00
Quintiles	2	29	15	
	3	14	18	
	4	31	16	
	5	4	20	
Total Expenditure	1	24	20	0.00
Quintiles	2	19	20	
	3	22	22	
	4	18	18	
	5	17	20	
Debt	Yes	18	53	0.01

Table 3. Pearson chi2 test of socio-demographics 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

No 82 47

Table 3 above shows the change in socio-demographics among the permanent residents of the Karantina neighborhood, between the 2020 (6 months after the explosion) and 2022 (2 years after the explosion). There have been significant changes in socio-demographics of the permanent residents of Karantina, in terms of employment, income, expenditures, and debt.

a. Food Expenditure Share

As mentioned above, food as a share of total household expenditure is used as a proxy indicator of food security. Households with a high share of their total expenditure spent on food, means they do not have enough resources to cover other important costs such as healthcare and education.

As listed in table 1, six months after the explosion, 6% of the households had a very high share of their total expenditure allocated for food, 16% of the households had a high share of their total expenditure allocated for food, 28% had a medium share of their total expenditure allocated for food, and 50% of the population had a lower share of their total expenditure allocated for food expenditure.

Whereas, as listed in table 2, two years after the explosion, 3% of the households had a very high share of their total expenditure allocated for food, 2% of the households had high share of their total expenditure allocated for food, 18% had medium share of their total expenditure allocated for food, and 77% of the population had lower share of their total expenditure allocated for food expenditure.

b. Assistance received

As listed in tables 1 and 2 in pages 47-49, six months after the explosion, everybody received food assistance, and 76% of the population received cash assistance. Whereas, two years after the explosion, all households did not receive food assistance nor cash assistance.

2. Food Consumption Score

As listed in table 12 in Appendix II, six months before the explosion, 1% of the population had poor food consumption, 2% had borderline food consumption, and 97% had acceptable food consumption. Six months after the explosion, 4% of the population had borderline food consumption, and 96% had acceptable food consumption. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 4% of the population had poor food consumption, 66% had borderline food consumption, and 30% had acceptable food consumption.

In this study, the binomial FCS was used to be able to perform the bivariate logistic regression. As listed in table 13 in Appendix II, six months before the explosion, 3% of the population had a poor food consumption, and 97% had acceptable food consumption. Six months after the explosion, 4% of the population had a poor food consumption, and 96% had acceptable food consumption. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 72% of the population had poor food consumption, and 28% had acceptable food consumption.

a. Food groups consumptions

(a) Dairy consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

Table 4. Pearson chi2 test of dairy consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

		Dairy 2 years after	er the explosion	
		\leq 1 time / week	2-7 times /	Total
			week	
Dairy 6 months	≤ 1 time / week	14	2	16
after the	2-7 times /	55	28	83
explosion	week			
	> 7 times /	0	1	1
	week			
То	tal	69	31	100

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 4 above, six months after the explosion, 16% of the population consumed dairy products one time per week, 83% of the population consumed dairy products two to seven times per week, and 1% of the population consumed dairy products more than seven times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 69% of the population consumed dairy products one time per week, and 31% of the population consumed dairy products two to seven times per week.

Six months after the explosion, all the households with poor food consumption, consumed dairy products one time per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 12.5% consumed dairy products one time per week, 83% consumed dairy products two to seven times per week, and 1% consumed dairy products more than seven times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 86% consumed dairy products up to one time per week, and 14% consumed dairy products two to seven times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 25% consumed dairy products up to one time per week, and 75% consumed dairy products two to seven times per week.

(b) Chicken and meat consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

		Meat 2 years after	er the explosion	
		\leq 1 time / week	2-3 times /	Total
			week	
Meat 6 months	≤ 1 time / week	23	0	23
after the	2-3 times /	75	2	77
explosion	week			
Tc	otal	98	2	100

Table 5. Pearson chi2 test of chicken and meat consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 5 above, six months after the explosion, 23% of the population consumed chicken and meat one time per week, and 77% of the population consumed chicken and meat two to three times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 98% of the population consumed chicken and meat up to one time per week, and 2% of the population consumed chicken and meat two to three times per week.

Six months after the explosion, out of households with poor food consumption, 75% consumed chicken and meat one time per week, and 25% consumed chicken and meat two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 21% consumed chicken and meat one time per week, and 79% consumed chicken and meat two to three times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, all households with poor food consumption, consumed chicken and meat up to one time per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 93% consumed chicken and meat up to one time per week, and 7% consumed chicken and meat two to three times per week.

(c) Eggs consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

		Eggs 2 years after the explosion			
		\leq 1 time /	2-3 times /	> = 4 times	Total
		week	week	/ week	
Eggs 6	≤ 1 time /	73	3	0	76
months after	week				
the	2-3 times /	17	1	1	19
explosion	week				
	> = 4 times	4	1	0	5
	/ week				
Total		94	5	1	100

Table 6. Pearson chi2 test of eggs consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 6 above, six months after the explosion, 76% of the population consumed eggs one time per week, 19% of the population consumed eggs two to three times per week, and 5% of the population consumed eggs more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 94% of the population consumed eggs up to one time per week, 5% of the population consumed eggs two to three times per week, and 1% of the population consumed eggs more than four times per week.

Six months after the explosion, all households with poor food consumption, consumed eggs one time per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 75% consumed eggs up to one time per week, 20% consumed eggs two to three times per week, and 5% consumed eggs more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 99% consumed eggs up to one time per week, and 1% consumed eggs two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 82% consumed eggs up to one time per week, 14% consumed eggs two to three times per week, and 4% consumed eggs more than four times per week.

(d) Pulses consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

		Pulses 2 years after the explosion			
		\leq 1 time /	2-3 times /	> = 4 times	Total
		week	week	/ week	
Pulses 6 months after	2-3 times / week	4	57	0	61
the explosion	>=4 times / week	0	36	3	39
Total		4	93	3	100

Table 7. Pearson chi2 test of pulses consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 7 above, six months after the explosion, 61% of the population consumed pulses two to three times per week, and 39% of the population consumed pulses more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 4% of the population consumed pulses up to one time per week, 93% of the population consumed pulses two to three times per week, and 3% of the population consumed pulses more than four times per week.

Six months after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 75% consumed pluses two to three time per week, and 25% consumed pulses more than four times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 60% consumed pulses two to three time per week, 40% consumed pulses more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 3% consumed pulses up to one time per week, 94% consumed pluses two to three time per week, and 3% consumed pulses more than four times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 7% consumed pluses up to one time per week, 89% consumed pulses two to three time per week, 4% consumed pulses more than four times per week.

(e) Fruits consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

		Fruits 2 years after the explosion			
		\leq 1 time /	2-3 times /	> = 4 times	Total
		week	week	/ week	
Fruits 6	≤ 1 time /	28	0	0	28
months after	week				
the	2-3 times /	34	5	0	39
explosion	week				
	> = 4 times	23	7	3	33
	/ week				
Total		85	12	3	100

Table 8. Pearson chi2 test of fruits consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 8 above, six months after the explosion, 28% of the population consumed fruits one time per week, 39% of the population consumed fruits two to three times per week, and 33% consumed fruits more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 85% of the population consumed fruits up to one time per week, 12% of the population consumed fruits two to three times per week, and 3% consumed fruits more than four times per week, and 3% consumed fruits more than four times per week, and 3% consumed fruits more than four times per week.

Six months after the explosion, out of households with poor food consumption, 75% consumed fruits one time per week, and 25% consumed fruits two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 26% consumed fruits one time per week, 40% consumed fruits two to three times per week, and 35% consumed fruits more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of households with poor food consumption, 93% consumed fruits up to one time per week, and 7% consumed fruits two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 64% consumed fruits up to one time per week, 25% consumed fruits two to three times per week, and 11% consumed fruits more than four times per week.

(f) Vegetables consumption of the permanent residents of Karantina

		Vegetables 2 years after the explosion			
		\leq 1 time /	2-3 times /	> = 4 times /	Total
		week	week	week	
Vegetables 6	\leq 1 time /	3	1	0	4
months after	week				
the	2-3 times /	0	22	3	25
explosion	week				
	> = 4 times /	1	47	23	71
	week				
Total		4	70	26	100

Table 9. Pearson chi2 test of vegetables consumption 6 months after the explosion and 2 years after the explosion

A chi-square test was done, and as represented in the table 9 above, six months after the explosion, 4% of the population consumed vegetables up to one time per week, 25% of the population consumed vegetables two to three times per week, and 71% of the population consumed vegetables more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 4% of the population consumed vegetables up to one time per week, 70% of the population consumed vegetables two to three times per week, and 26% of the population consumed vegetables more than four times per week.

Six months after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 25% consumed vegetables up to one time per week, and 75% consumed vegetables two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 3% consumed vegetables up to one time per week, 23% consumed vegetables two to three times per week, and 74% consumed vegetables more than four times per week. Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of the households with poor food consumption, 4% consumed vegetables up to one time per week, 82% consumed vegetables two to three times per week, and 14% consumed vegetables two to three times per week. And out of the households with acceptable food consumption, 4% consumed vegetables up to one time per week, 39% consumed vegetables two to three times per week, and 57% consumed vegetables more than four times per week.

b. Bivariate regression analysis between FCS and socio-demographics

In this part, the association between the households' socio-demographic characteristics and food consumptions is studied, using a bivariate logistic regression. And the results are as follows:

A bivariate regression test, presented in table 16 in Appendix II, shows:

- A significant negative association between the household size and acceptable food consumption score at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that as household size increase, the FCS significantly decreases.
- A significant positive association between being Lebanese and acceptable food consumption score at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that Lebanese are four times more likely to have acceptable food consumption, as compared to being Syrian.
- A positive association between education level and acceptable food consumption score at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that with increasing education, the odds of having acceptable food consumption increases. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. Having elementary educational level increases the chances of having acceptable food consumption by two. Having middle education level increases the chances of having acceptable food having acceptable food consumption by two. Having middle education level increases the chances of having university

educational level increases the chances of having acceptable food consumption by almost four and a half.

- A positive association between the employment of the head of the household and acceptable food consumption score. This means that being employed increases the odds of having acceptable food consumption by 1, compared to having no employment. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.
- A positive association between the income of the head of the household and acceptable food consumption score. This means that with increasing income, the odds of having acceptable food consumption increases. However, the association is not significant at alpha p > |z| = 0.2.
- A positive association between the household food expenditure share and acceptable food consumption score. This means that having a lower percentage of total expenditure spent on food, increases the odds of having acceptable food consumption by 1. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.
- A positive association between the household total expenditure and acceptable food consumption score. This means that with increasing total expenditure, the odds of having acceptable food consumption increases.
 However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.
- A significant negative association between having debt and acceptable food consumption score at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that having debt decreased the odds of having acceptable food consumption, compared to not having debt.

- A significant positive association between receiving cash assistance after the explosion and having acceptable food consumption at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that as households who received cash assistance after the explosion, have increased odds of having acceptable food consumption, compared to households who did not receive cash assistance.
- c. Food consumption score by receipt of cash assistance



Figure 5. Percentage of households with acceptable food consumption based on receipt of cash assistance 6 months after the explosion

As represented in figure 6 above, six months before the explosion, out of the 100 households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 99% had acceptable food consumption. Whereas, out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 92% had acceptable food consumption.

Six months after the explosion, out of the households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, and 99% had acceptable food consumption.

Whereas, out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 88% had acceptable food consumption.

And two years after the explosion, out of the households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 27% had acceptable food consumption. Whereas, out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 42% had acceptable food consumption.

3. Food Insecurity Experience Scale

As listed in table 14 in Appendix II, six months before the explosion, 80% of the population were food secure, 17% were mildly food insecure, and 3% were severely food insecure. Six months after the explosion, 71% of the population were food secure, 29% were mildly food insecure. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 2% of the population were food secure, 64% were mildly food insecure, and 34% were severely food insecure.

In this study, the binomial FIES was used to be able to perform the bivariate logistic regression. As listed in table 15 in Appendix II, six months before the explosion, 20% of the population were food secure, and 80% of the population were food insecure. Six months after the explosion, 71% of the population were food secure, and 29% of the population were food insecure. Whereas, two years after the explosion, 2% of the households were food secure, and 98% were food insecure.

a. FIES answers six months after the explosion

During the past 6 months after the explosion, out of the households:

- 61% reported they were concerned that they would run out of food for the household for the next month.
- 26% reported the food that they bought was not enough and they didn't have money to get more.
- 86% reported there are foods they feel their family did not eat enough of six months after the explosion.
- 9% reported they or any other adult in the household cut the size of their meal because there was not enough food.
- 5% reported that at least one adult in the household skipped a meal because there was not enough food.
- 89% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was unable to eat healthy and nutritious food because of a lack of money or other resources.
- 0% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was hungry but did not eat because there was not enough money or other resources for food.
- 0% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household went without eating for a whole day or got to bed hungry because of a lack of money or other resources.

b. FIES answers two years after the explosion

Two years after the explosion, out of the households:

• 99% reported they were concerned that they would run out of food for the household for the next month.

- 97% reported the food that they bought was not enough and they didn't have money to get more.
- 99% reported there are foods they feel their family did not eat enough of six months after the explosion.
- 96% reported they or any other adult in the household cut the size of their meal because there was not enough food.
- 44% reported there at least one adult in the household skipped a meal because there was not enough food.
- 99% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was unable to eat healthy and nutritious food because of a lack of money or other resources.
- 61% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was hungry but did not eat because there was not enough money or other resources for food.
- 2% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household went without eating for a whole day or got to bed hungry because of a lack of money or other resources.

c. <u>Bivariate regression analysis between FIES and socio-demographics</u>

In this part, the association between the households' socio-demographic characteristics and food security is studied, using a bivariate logistic regression. And the results are as follows:

A bivariate regression test, presented in table 17 in Appendix II, shows:

- A significant negative association between the household size and being food secure at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that as household size increase, the odds of being food secure decreases.
- A significant positive association between being Lebanese and being food secure at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that Lebanese are three times more likely to be food secure, as compared to being Syrian.
- A significant positive association between education level and being food secure at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that with increasing education, the odds of being food secure increases. Having elementary educational level increases the chances of being food secure by four. Having middle school education increases the chances of being food secure by three. Having university educational level increases the chances of being food secure by three by three by almost 28.
- A positive association between the employment of the head of the household and being food secure. This means that being employed increases the odds of being food secure by 1, compared to not being employed. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.
- A positive association between the income of the head of the household and being food secure. This means that with increasing income, the odds of being food secure increases. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.
- A negative association between the household food expenditure share and being food secure. This means that having a higher percentage of total

expenditure spent on food, decreases the odds of being food secure. However, the association is not significant at alpha p>|z| = 0.2.

- A positive association between the household total expenditure and being food secure. This means that with increasing total expenditure, the odds of being food secure increases. However, the association is not significant at alpha p > |z| = 0.2.
- A significant negative association between having debt and being food secure at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that having debt decreased the odds of being food secure, compared to not having debt.
- A significant positive association between receiving cash assistance after the explosion and being food secure at alpha p>|z| = 0.2. This means that receiving cash assistance 6 months after the explosion increased the odds of being food secure.



d. Prevalence of food insecurity by receipt of cash assistance

Figure 6. Percentage of food secure households based on receipt of cash assistance 6 months after the explosion

As represented in figure 7 above, six months before the explosion, out of the households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 76% were food secure. Whereas, out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 92% were food secure.

Six months after the explosion, out of the households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 76% were food secure. Whereas, out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 54% were food secure.

Whereas, two years after the explosion, out of the households who received cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, only 1% were food secure. And out of the households who did not receive cash assistance 6 months after the explosion, 4% were food secure.

4. Livelihood coping strategies

Six months after the explosion, 8% of the population did not adopt any coping strategies, 51% of the population adopted stress coping strategies, 40% of the population adopted crisis coping strategies, and 2% of the population adopted emergency coping strategies.

Whereas, two years after the explosion, one household did not adopt any coping strategies, 3% of the households adopted stress coping strategies, 94% of the households adopted crisis coping strategies, and 2% of the households adopted emergency coping strategies.

a. Coping strategies answers six months after the explosion

During the six months after the explosion, because of the lack of food or money

to buy food, out of the households:

- 19% sold household goods (radio, furniture, television, jewelry etc.).
- 32% reduced expenses on health (including medicine).
- 12% reduced expenses on education.
- 66% spent some or all the HH savings.
- 39% bought food on credit and/or borrowed money to purchase food.
- 0% moved to a cheaper rental place or live on the street.
- 8% withdrew children from school.
- 2% had school children (6 -15 years old) involved in income generation.
- 0% had household members accepting high risk, dangerous, or exploitative work.
- 0% married their children under 18.
- 24% ate at family or relatives.

b. Coping strategies answers two years after the explosion

Two years after the explosion, because of the lack of food or money to buy food, out of the households:

- 81% sold household goods (radio, furniture, television, jewelry etc.).
- 97% reduced expenses on health (including medicine).
- 2% reduced expenses on education.
- 8% spent some or all the HH savings (+ 66% already did)
- 94% bought food on credit and/or borrowed money to purchase food.
- 0% moved to a cheaper rental place or live on the street.
- 1% withdrew children from school (+ 8% already did)
- 2% had school children (6 -15 years old) involved in income generation.
- 0% had household members accepting high risk, dangerous, or exploitative work.
- 0% married their children under 18.
- 47% ate at family or relatives.

B. Discussion

Two years after the Beirut explosion, the economic situation in Karantina has worsened significantly. Many people were pushed below the national minimum wage, employment rates have fallen, and debt levels have increased, compared to the time of the explosion. In 2022, 29% of households were above the national minimum wage, which was equivalent to 118\$, 53% of households in Karantina had debt, 54% of heads of households were unemployed, and income disparities were evident, with 31% of the population having the lowest incomes and 15% having the highest incomes. This indicates that a high percentage of people in Karantina are now living in poverty. The increase in the exchange rate and price inflations are likely factors that have contributed to this decline. The main reason for households being in debt was to purchase food, which shows the challenges that people are facing in accessing basic necessities.

These findings are consistent with the results of studies conducted on a national level. A study by Hoteit et al. (2021) found that most Lebanese households reported a decline in income and an increase in debt. The study found that 54% of Lebanese households had debt in 2021, 29% were unemployed, and 45% of Lebanese households

were among the lowest income earners. The findings of this study are also consistent with the findings of a study by the IPC (2022). The IPC report found that unemployment rates in Lebanon increased from 11% to 30% between 2019 and 2022. The report also found income disparities among the Lebanese population.

There has been a huge decrease in the food security status and food consumption scores of the permanent residents of Karantina, two years after the explosion, compared to the time of the explosion.

For the food Consumption Score (FCS), six months after the explosion, none of the households had poor food consumption, whereas, two years after the explosion, 4% of the population had poor food consumption. The percentage of households with borderline food consumption increased from 4% six months after the explosion, to 66% two years after the explosion. And the percentage of households with acceptable food consumption, decreased from 96% six months after the explosion, to 30% two years after the explosion. The acceptable food consumption scores of the households reflect the diversity of their diet, and the results are consistent with the scores on the national level, where in 2021, 53% of Lebanese residents had a poor food consumption score, 18% had borderline food consumption score, and 28% had acceptable food consumption score after the explosion (Hoteit et al., 2021).

The low food consumption scores found in this population indicate that food consumption patterns have worsened, dietary diversity has decreased, and food intake has become insufficient.

Two years after the explosion, there has been a significant decrease in the consumption of high-micronutrient foods such as fruits, vegetables, and legumes,

compared to the time of the explosion. There has also been a decrease in the consumption of high-quality animal source protein such as meat and dairy. In 2022, 97% of the population consumed fruits and pulses less than three times per week, 70% consumed vegetables less than three times per week, 97% consumed pulses less than three times per week, and 83% consumed dairy products less than three times per week.

These findings are consistent with the findings of Hoteit et al. in 2021, in Lebanon, where they found that 71%, 71%, 83%, 80%, and 77% of the Lebanese population consumed fruits, vegetables, pulses, meat and dairy products respectively, less than three times per week.

The decrease in the consumption of these foods is an indication of poverty. People are unable to afford healthy and nutritious food due to price inflations, and are relying on less expensive, less nutritious food to feel full. This is a concerning trend, as it could lead to a number of health problems, including malnutrition, stunting, and wasting.

In addition, it appears that the Mediterranean diet is deeply entranced into the culture and the habits of people living in Karantina. After the removal assistance, the nutrient dense foods are dropped out of the diet, but vegetables and legumes, which are mains of the Mediterranean diet, continued to be there. Vegetables and legumes consumption remained high even in households who have severe coping strategies, have debt, and pushed further into poverty. People stopped spending on meat and replaced meat with legumes and vegetables.

As per the Food Insecurity Experience Scale (FIES), the percentage of food secure households decreased to 2% two years after the explosion, compared to the time of the explosion. Two years after the explosion, the percentage of households with mild food insecurity increased to 64%, and severe food insecure appeared in the population with 34% being severely food insecure. Six months after the explosion, the proportion of severe food insecurity disappeared, which is an indicator that the majority of people were fine shortly after the blast, however, their situation has worsened a lot two years after the explosion. Severe food insecurity indicates extreme food deprivation, with substantial disruptions in their food intakes.

These findings show that food insecurity was a serious problem for households in Karantina, two years after the explosion. The results are consistent with the scores on the national level, where 43% of Lebanese residents were severely food insecure in 2021 (Hoteit et al., 2021). The increase in food insecurity was also found by the WFP in 2022, where they found that food insecurity increased to 46% in 2021, and the share of food secure households dropped to 54% in 2021.

Lebanon also fits in the global trend of food insecurity. The results are consistent with the findings of other studies studying the effect of immediate shocks on food security. A study assessing the post-flood household food insecurity of communities living in northeastern Bangladesh, following the devastating monsoon flash flood in 2017, found similar results, where 62% of surveyed households were found to be food insecure after the flood, however, it is important to mention that the researchers in this study used a different method, the HFIAS (Parvez et al., 2021).

According to the FIES questions, a large proportion of households perceived themselves as food insecure two years after the explosion. Two years after the explosion, the percentage of households concerned they would run out of food increased to 99%. The percentage of households who were cutting the size of their meals increased to 96%. And the percentage of households skipping their meals increased to 44%.

Similar results were found on a national level; 87% of Lebanese households were concerned they would run out of food, 77% were cutting the size of their meals, 67% of Lebanese households were skipping their meals, and 47% reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was hungry but did not eat because there was not enough money to buy food, in 2021 (Hoteit et al., 2021).

In Karantina, lots of people ate less than 2 meals per day, especially two years after the explosion, and the results showed that two years after the explosion, 61% of the households reported there was a time when at least one adult in the household was hungry but did not eat because there was not enough money to buy food.

All the households received food assistance six months after the explosion, so there was no variability and food assistance. Therefore, we cannot see whether food assistance played a role in improving the food security status of the population. However, it is evident that food parcels as a first emergency response, help counter the impact of inflation and decreased purchasing power for the vulnerable, freeing up money and resources to cover other basic needs and commodities (WFP, 2022).

As for cash assistance, six months after the explosion, 76% of the households received cash assistance. A bivariate logistic regression analysis was performed on receiving cash assistance six months after the explosion and the FIES and FCS of the households six months after the explosion. The analysis showed that the households who received cash assistance six months after the explosion were more likely to be food secure and have acceptable food consumption scores than the households who did not receive cash assistance. These findings are not consistent with the findings of Parvez et al. (2021) where they found that receiving cash assistance after the flood made no difference to the food security status of the Hoar population, this might be due to many factors. However, similar findings were found in the paper of Romano et al. (2020) where they found that cash assistance had a positive effect on food consumptions, dietary diversity in West Bank, Gaza. In addition to the findings of both studies, Susanty et al. (2023), and Daniels & Anderson (2018), that found that cash assistance after crises, strengthened food security, by providing families with the ability to purchase their daily basic needs such as food and other commodities (Susanty et al., 2023 & Daniels & Anderson, 2018).

Looking at the trend in figures 6 and 7 (found in pages 61 and 66), showing the food security status and FCS of the households who received cash assistance six months after the explosion, we can see that the people are still food insecure and have poor food consumption two years after the explosion. Out of the households who received cash assistance, 76% were food secure and 99% had acceptable food consumption, six months after the explosion. These percentages dropped two years after the explosion, food secure households consisted of only 1% and 27% of the households had acceptable

food consumption, two years after the explosion. Out of the households who did not receive cash assistance, 54% were food secure and 88% had acceptable food consumption, six months after the explosion. These percentages dropped two years after the explosion, food secure households consisted only of 4% and 42% had acceptable food consumption, two years after the explosion. Thus, today no one is receiving any kind of assistance and yet food insecurity is high and food consumption scores are low. Hence, the assistance received by the permanent residents of Karantina after the explosion was associated with better food security and food consumption score at the time of the incident but not with long term food security and food consumption.

These findings demonstrate that the food security situation improved after receival of cash assistance, however, their situation declined when cash assistance stopped. Although no causality can be established, the strong correlation between cash assistance and food security, is enough to say that cash assistance does seem to offer temporary relief, households who got more money spent it on eating better.

No studies compared FCS and FIES between different time periods, especially in light of cash assistance received after a crisis. These findings cannot be compared to other studies. However, some studies found the effect of humanitarian assistance on food security through other methods.

Falb et al. (2020) found that although cash assistance after crisis, yielded significant improvements in food security, in Syria. Households were worried that once the program ends and the assistance stops, they would go back to their earlier states, and not be able to provide for their families' basic needs (Falb et al., 2020).

Two studies, assessing cash assistance and food security and livelihoods, acknowledged the relationship between cash assistance and improved food security and

livelihoods. Nonetheless, both studies advocated for the development of longer-term interventions that lead to sustainable enhancement of food security and livelihoods. However, it is important to mention that these papers were considering situations of protracted crisis, in Gaza and Northern Syria respectively, and the Beirut port explosion is considered an immediate shock (Romano et al., 2020 & Dautriat, 2022).

The bivariate logistic regression between socio-demographics and FCS showed similar results to the bivariate logistic regression between socio-demographics and FIES. Households with big household size and households with family members having debt were less likely to be food secure and have acceptable food consumption score.

This study found that, six months after the explosion, 55% of households with debt were food insecure, whereas 23% of households without debt were food insecure. These findings are consistent with the findings of Hoteit et al. (2021), where they found that, households who had debt had twice the odds of being food insecure. The findings are also consistent with other international studies performed after a crisis or shock. Parvez et al., found that households among the households who had debt, 64% were food insecure, whereas, among households with no debt, 56% were food insecure, after the flood (Parvez et al., 2021).

The bivariate logistic regressions also found that, households with higher educational attainment of the head of the household, the employment of the head of the household, and households with higher income, were more likely to be food secure and have acceptable food consumption score. Having middle school education increases the chances of being food secure by 3, and having university educational level increases the chances of being food secure by almost 28. However, the results are not significant, it

maybe because of small sample size. Nonetheless, these findings are consistent with the findings of Sahyoun et al., 2014, Parvez et al., 2021, and Ahmadi et al, 2018, all these studies found that better household socio-economic conditions reduced the risk of food insecurity. Parvez et al. (2021) found that non-poor households, had 31% less risk of food insecurity compared to poor households after the flood. The study also found that the head of the household having secondary education level, decreased the risk of food insecurity by 30% (Parvez et al., 2021).

The number of households who reported facing challenges to access food continued to grow in the two years following the explosion, making them more vulnerable to future shocks. The use of crisis coping strategies also increased dramatically two years after the explosion, compared to the time of the explosion. From six months to two years after the explosion, the use of crisis coping strategies increased from 40% to 94%. This indicates that people were becoming more desperate to rely on coping strategies to survive.

The findings are consistent with the findings of Hoteit et al. (2021) where they found that on a national level, one in two Lebanese households were adopting crisis or emergency coping strategies (Hoteit et al., 2021).

The high use of crisis coping strategies is a sign of decreased resilience. People who use crisis coping strategies are more likely to have poor food consumption scores and decreased future productivity as reported by VASyR (2021). This means that they are less able to deal with future shocks and less likely to be able to recover from them.

This can be seen by the percentage of people adopting the following coping strategies: the percentage of households who sold their goods, and spent some or all

their household savings, because of the lack of food or money to buy food, increased from 19% and 66% respectively, six months after the explosion, to 81% and 74 respectively, two years after the explosion. Households who reduced expenses on health, increased from 32% six months after the explosion, to 97% two years after the explosion. And the percentage of households who bought food on credit increased from 39% six months after the explosion, to 94% two years after the explosion.

The findings are consistent with the findings of the Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis of Lebanese Residents performed by the WFP in 2022, and the IPC Acute Food Insecurity Analysis in Lebanon in 2022. Both reports assessed the food security status of the Lebanese population in 2022, following the economic crisis, the currency depreciation, and the increase in food and other commodities' prices, and found that 68% of the Lebanese population adopted crisis coping strategies in 2022. In addition, between 2021 and 2022, more than half the Lebanese population were buying food on credit, and 71% reduced their expenses on health (WFP, 2022 & IPC, 2022).

The findings show that despite the people living in an impoverished society, the majority were able to guarantee their food needs however, two years after the explosion, the repercussions have come in, and really damaged their coping strategies.

In summary, although no causality can be determined, the permanent residents of Karantina who received cash assistance after the explosion, were more likely to have better food security and food consumption score at the time of the explosion. However, the improved situation did not last in the long-term when cash assistance stopped. This is explained by the deterioration of the economic situation in Lebanon since 2020. The multiple crises that affected the country, disabled the Karantina population from being able to cope properly. Most of the households fell deeper into poverty in 2022, many lost their source of income, none were receiving cash assistance, most of them were falling into debt and this worsened their food security status.

C. Limitations

The present study has several strengths. First, this paper contributes to the scarce literature on the relation between humanitarian assistance and food security. This paper aims to explore the prevalence and correlates of household food insecurity among households living in Karantina post the Beirut port explosion. This was an interesting way to get out an in-depth community case study, specific to the Karantina neighborhood, that describes the situation after the blast. The sample consisted around 30% of the population, making it a good sample size to be able to generalize the results to the Karantina population. We have collected data on them before, after and two years after the explosion. Very few people have done that kind of study in Lebanon, we have in depth data and understanding of the same households in Karantina at three different time points, allowing for comparison. In addition, the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the sample population were found to be comparable to national figures most recently available in Lebanon, post the economic crisis. Another strength is the use of face-to-face interviews, these help in having a more accurate and in-depth assessment of the households, and reliable results. Due to it being a critical subject, food security assessment is best performed in person, especially when dealing with a vulnerable population, as they would be hard to reach via online modes. By doing so, the participants would refrain from delivering any false statements, especially when it

comes to socio-demographic data; if it was an online platform, there would be no guarantee that the answers are truthful and accurate (Vogl, 2013).

However, results from the study need to be interpreted in the light of several limitations as well. One of the major limitations is the recall issue, given that the data was collected two years after the explosion people might not be remember their situation correctly, from the time of the explosion. The unreliability of memory, coupled with the passage of time, can alter the participants' ability to recall events accurately. And thus, may compromise the validity of the research findings. However, this was addressed by verifying the reliability of the recall. A subset of 20 households on whom we had both recall and baseline data, was used, for accordance between the recall and the baseline, adding strength to the study.s Additionally, when reporting about assistance, vulnerable populations tend to under-report, due to them being under the impression that reporting assistance could hinder their future eligibility for other forms of assistance (VASyR, 2017). This was handled by telling all the participants at the start of the interviews, that this study was strictly for academic purposes and no compensation was available at the end of the survey. Another limitation in this study is the small sample size, only 100 households were interviewed. Although this was a good sample size for a descriptive community case study, the study was limited by the sample size. The sample size was not big enough to be able to detect significances in the changes over time. Nor was it able to detect the effect of assistance on food security. The study was only valid for associations, but not for adjusting for confounders. In this study, we do not have enough numbers to run a multivariable model and extract significances, given the high number of variables and the small sample size. To be able to do so, three digits are needed, which was not feasible in this study. One final

limitation is that food security was measured at the household level, and it may not reflect the severity of food insecurity that is witnessed at the intra-household level.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

A. Conclusion

In conclusion, the results from this study support the hypothesis, and agree that the food and nutrition security of the permanent residents of Karantina improved after the 4th of August Beirut Port explosion, however, the improved situation did not last in the long-term.

There has been a huge decrease in people's incomes and employment status two years after the explosion, in addition, almost half of the households had debt two years after the explosion. This was an indication of their decreased socio-economic conditions, which were negatively affected not only as an aftermath of the blast, but also the economic crisis that hit the country in 2019-2020. There has been a huge deterioration of the food security status and food consumption scores of the permanent residents of Karantina after the blast. The percentage of food secure households decreased from 71% six months after the explosion, to 2% two years after the explosion. And the percentage of households with acceptable food consumption, decreased from 96% six months after the explosion, to 30% two years after the explosion. This deterioration led to many challenges for people to be able to access food. Two years after the explosion, the number of households who reported facing challenges to access food continued to grow, 95% of the population were adopting crisis coping strategies, making them more vulnerable to future shocks. All the households received food assistance and the majority received cash assistance six months after the explosion, however, all kinds of assistance stopped six months to one year after the

explosion. Household size, having debt, the head of the household's educational attainment and employment, increased income, and receiving cash assistance were all found be associated with higher odds of being food secure and having acceptable food consumption score. The assistance received by the permanent residents of Karantina after the explosion, was associated with higher food security and food consumption score at the time of the explosion, but not with long term food security and food consumptions on the long run.

B. Recommendations

This community case study can enable future research and aid in formulating a comprehensive plan to develop future food security interventions targeted at Lebanese communities, pre- and post-crises. It is important to examine the humanitarian assistance received after the Beirut blast to assess its quality and long-term impact on the population, as there is a scarcity of such studies in the literature. A review of the existing body of research, titled "Food aid for nutrition: A landscape review of current research and implications for future studies" analyzing the formulation and effectiveness of food aid products in addressing nutrition issues, revealed that most studies examine the immediate effects of food aid, and that it is primarily provided in response to acute malnutrition and hunger (Wrabel et al., 2020). Studying the characteristics of aid and relief in Lebanon, will set recommendations for the better delivery of future aid programs that are both time efficient and meet the evolving needs of nutritionally vulnerable populations.

Addressing food insecurity is a critical national priority due to its far-reaching impact on the health and long-term productivity and resilience of Lebanese households.

And recognizing the six pillars of food security, availability, accessibility, utilization, stability, agency, and sustainability, as the core of future interventions is imperative for a successful long-term impact. It is important to educate all members of communities that the quality of food consumed by people is as important as the quantity, and even more. Nutrition security should be integrated into each member that is advocating for a better food security and food system. For example, while offering food aid and relief, the focus should be on offering beneficial food for people for them to be able to lead healthy lifestyles, and not something that might harm them. People with low income can only afford energy sufficient diets, containing the same components of the food offered to people as aid and relief (Hwalla et al., 2016). This highlights the importance of timely and sustained delivery of assistance both in terms of food and cash, to people in dire need during emergency settings, such as the case of the Beirut port explosion when people needed immediate food aid and cash assistance.

The reason why humanitarian assistance does not support the people with the components of a healthy diet that will benefit them and facilitate their access to what they cannot afford needs to be further examined. Due to the direct link between health, food security, and nutritional well-being, there have been global efforts and recommendations to improve the nutritional quality and composition of food aid. This involves considering the macro- and micro-nutrient content that is suitable for each country and population to optimize health outcomes. Emergency feeding programs should be required to provide needy populations with both food parcels and cash- and voucher-based assistance that deliver essential nutrients crucial for human health and well-being (Hwalla et al., 2016 & Ignowski et al., 2021).

Furthermore, future interventions should focus on the long-term improvement of communities, instead of just the short-term delivery of food aid. This can be done through first, developing a national crisis response plan that would enable us to dive right into action when future crises hit Lebanon. In addition, constant monitoring, and evaluation of the effectiveness of interventions is crucial for any humanitarian intervention. This way non-governmental organizations and governments can know more about the situation of the population, how it changed and how it was affected by the primary assistance, and thus, which way to go from there. Another crucial point is developing population-specific assistance, because as we know each population has its own characteristics and the needs might differ from population to another. This community case study contributed with evidence-based findings that would help in future policy development and decision-making processes, ensuring that future interventions are better suited to the community's needs.

Another recommendation would be studying how people eat when they are under stress. Although households in Karantina dropped nutrient dense food; they stopped spending on meat, but they maintained the consumption of vegetables and pulses. This might be due to the affordability of vegetables and legumes in Lebanon, or the knowledge of the households. Therefore, it is beneficial to assess the situation of the Mediterranean diet under times of crisis and conflict.

Furthermore, the situation after the blast had revealed significant shortcomings in the government's and international community's response. The response lacked organization in planning, and most importantly, a lack of coordination. There was lack of coordination between the different actors involved in relief and assistance, and this led to many inequalities in the distribution processes, where many areas were full of

NGOs and volunteers working intensely on repairing homes and providing relief, while others were being disregarded (Beirut Urban Lab, 2021). All these, fall under the umbrella of planning a proper crisis response.

Therefore, it is important, when designing programs to deliver aid and relief to populations, the primary focus should be on providing safe and nutritious food for everyone, in addition to improving their purchasing power, through cash assistance, vouchers, or livelihood improvement programs. By combining these interventions with dietary recommendations, vulnerable populations can have both short-term and long-term access to food that promotes their health and productivity. And finally, vouchers and nutrition education can empower individuals to have some control over their food choices (Hwalla et al., 2016).

In addition, humanitarian assistance should not only be in the form of food or cash assistance, increasing and enhancing livelihoods can have many benefits on the food security of the populations given the direct link that was found between increased income and employment with improved food security and food consumption score. This can be seen in this study, despite high levels of assistance immediately after the blast, the ability of humanitarian assistance to mitigate food security challenges and food consumption gaps, was reduced by the decline in purchasing power, dollar inflation, unfavorable exchange rates, and soaring food prices. More investment is needed in exploring the idea of short-term emergency assistance vs longer term assistance. Additionally, it is crucial to enhance the connections between cash and in-kind support, and income-generating opportunities and livelihood support, for optimal outcomes. This approach will enable households to endure future shocks and increase their resilience. After the blast, the Beirut Urban Lab assessed the Karantina situation, and proposed a

long-term, holistic, and participatory recovery framework for Karantina. The framework included methods that not only rebuild social and economic connections but also revitalize places of collective memories and societal importance. This approach helps in reconstructing both the physical structures and the cultural identity of the communities and will finally help in identifying the main areas to tackle to improve the livelihoods and resilience of the Karantina population (Beirut Urban Lab, 2020). According to the Beirut Urban Lab, the main areas of analysis are affordable housing and social inclusion, spatial, economic, and social connectivity, cultural and economic vitality, inclusive and sustainable development, and quality of the urban environment (2020).

As for this research, many recommendations come to mind, first, a larger sample size should have been adopted, to be able to detect significances in the changes over time, in addition to the effect of cash assistance on food security. Another recommendation is the use of the HFIAS along with the FIES to measure household food insecurity, given that many studies used the HFIAS, and better comparisons would have been made. Another recommendation would be to go down another time to the field and assess the current changes in socio-demographics, food security, and food consumption scores, in 2023, and compare the results to the rest of the study. The results of this study are applicable to the year 2022, however, since then, the country has faced further deterioration in food security and poverty. It would be beneficial to see whether the Karantina residents faced the same trends as the rest of the country.

Three years after the blast, and four years after the economic crisis that hit the country, food insecurity persists as the economic crisis continues. Lebanon is still facing severe economic and social challenges. The already dire situation has been exacerbated

by the still ongoing (and increasing) dollar inflation leading to increasing prices of food and other essential commodities. Poverty is still on the rise, and basic living conditions are continuing to decline (IPC, 2023). According to the IPC, in 2023, increased levels of food insecurity were found among the Lebanese population and the Syrian refugee population in Lebanon. In 2023, the depreciation of the currency and the ongoing economic crisis persist, further driving up food prices and making it increasingly difficult for people to afford basic necessities. Therefore, households are still increasingly opting for less diversified foods, and reducing their consumption of highly nutritious foods. This shows the continuously deteriorating food security situation of the Lebanese population and sets an idea about the current food security situation of the Karantina population.

APPENDIX I

(INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL OF RESEARCH)



AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB)

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB

APPROVAL OF RESEARCH

Dr. Rami Zurayk American University of Beirut 01-350000 ext. 4571

Dear Dr. Zurayk,

rzurayk@aub.edu.lb

October 4, 2021

On October 4, 2021, the IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial; Expedited		
Project Title:	The Impact of the Beirut Port Explosion on Food Security in		
-	Karantina neighborhood, Beirut, Lebanon		
Investigator:	Rami Zurayk		
IRB ID	SBS-2020-0496		
Funding Agency:	None		
Documents reviewed:	Received October 4, 2021:		
	Response Letter,		
	Amended IRB Application,		
	Proposal,		
	Amended Consent Form (Arabic and English versions),		
	Amended Data Collection Tool.		

The IRB approved the protocol from **October 4, 2021**, to **October 3, 2022**, inclusive. Before August 3, 2022, or within 30 days of study close, whichever is earlier, you are to submit a completed "FORM: Continuing Review Progress Report" and required attachments to request continuing approval or study closure.

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of October 4, 2022, approval of this research expires on that date.

Please find attached the stamped approved documents:

- Proposal (received January 2021),
- · Consent Form Arabic and English versions (received October 4, 2021),
- Data Collection Tool (received October 4, 2021).

Only these IRB approved consent forms and documents can be used for this research study.

Thank you.

The American University of Beirut and its Institutional Review Board, under the Institution's Federal Wide Assurance with OHRP, comply with the Department of Health and Human Services

Page 1 of 2

Template Revision: October 5, 2021



(DHHS) Code of Federal Regulations for the Protection of Human Subjects ("The Common Rule") 45CFR46, subparts A, B, C, and D, with 21CFR56; and operate in a manner consistent with the Belmont report, FDA guidance, Good Clinical Practices under the ICH guidelines, and applicable national/local regulations.

Sincerely, Muhad Unitor

Michael Clinton, PhD Co-Chairperson IRB Social & Behavioral Sciences

Cc:

Fuad Ziyadeh, MD, FACP, FRCP Professor of Medicine and Biochemistry Chairperson of the IRB

Ali K. Abu-Alfa, MD, FASN, FAHA Professor of Medicine Director, Human Research Protection Program Director for Research Affairs (AUBMC)

Page 2 of 2

Template Revision: October 5, 2021

APPENDIX II

(RESULTS)

Variable	Observation	W	V	Ζ	Prob > z
Household Size	100	0.973	2.161	1.709	0.043*
Education of Head	100	0.889	9.123	4.904	0.000*
of Household					
Household Food	100	0.960	3.241	2.609	0.004*
Expenditure					
Household Total	100	0.893	8.829	4.832	0.000*
Expenditure					
Household	100	0.809	15.701	6.109	0.000*
Income					
Household Food	100	0.934	5.396	3.739	0.000*
Expenditure Now					
Household Total	100	0828	14.151	5.878	0.000*
Expenditure Now					
Household	100	0.804	16.106	6.165	0.000*
Income Now					

Table 10. Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution of continuous data

Table 11. Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution of continuous recall data

Variable	Observation	W	V	Ζ	Prob > z
Household Size	20	0.970	0.702	-0.731	0.762
Household Size	20	0.970	0.702	-0.731	0.762
Recall					
Household Food	20	0.951	1.155	0.290	0.385
Expenditure					
Household Food	20	0.905	2.233	1.619	0.052
Expenditure					
Recall					
Household Total	20	0.899	2.383	1.750	0.040*
Expenditure					
Household Total	20	0.869	3.096	2.278	0.011*
Expenditure					
Recall					
Household Income	20	0.884	2.732	2.025	0.021*
Household Income	20	0.884	2.732	2.025	0.021*
Recall					

FCS	Categories	Frequency
FCS 6 months before	Poor FCS	1
the explosion	Borderline FCS	2
	Acceptable FCS	97
FCS 6 months after	Poor FCS	0
the explosion	Borderline FCS	4
	Acceptable FCS	96
FCS 2 years after the	Poor FCS	4
explosion	Borderline FCS	66
	Acceptable FCS	30

Table 12. Food Consumption Scores during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina

Table 13. Bivariate Food Consumption Scores during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina

Bivariate FCS	Categories	Frequency
FCS 6 months before	Poor FCS	3
the explosion	Acceptable FCS	97
FCS 6 months after	Poor FCS	4
the explosion	Acceptable FCS	96
FCS 2 years after the	Poor FCS	72
explosion	Acceptable FCS	28

Table 14. Food Insecurity measured by the FIES during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina

FIES	Categories	Frequency
FIES 6 months	Food Security	80
before the explosion	Mild to moderate	17
	Food Insecurity	
	Severe Food	3
	Insecurity	
FIES 6 months after	Food Security	71
the explosion	Mild to moderate	29
	Food Insecurity	
	Severe Food	0
	Insecurity	
FIES 2 years after	Food Security	2
the explosion	Mild to moderate	64
	Food Insecurity	
	Severe Food	34
	Insecurity	

Table 15. Bivariate Food Insecurity measured by the FIES during the three time periods as reported by the permanent residents of Karantina

Bivariate FIES	Categories	Frequency
FIES 6 months	Food Security	80
before the explosion	Food Insecurity	20
FIES 6 months after	Food Security	71
the explosion	Food Insecurity	29
FIES 2 years after	Food Security	2
the explosion	Food Insecurity	98

Table 16. Bivariate logistic regression between FCS and socio-demographics 2 years after the explosion

Variable	Categories	Odds Ratio	P > z
Household Size	3-4	0.16	0.006*
	>= 5	0.43	0.111*
Nationality	Lebanese Nationality	4.33	0.061*
Education of Head of	Elementary	2.24	0.481
Household	Middle / Highschool	2.89	0.344
	University	4.45	0.203
Employment of Head of	Yes	1.25	0.617
Household			
Household Income	Middle Income Earner	1	1.000
	Highest Income Earner	2.25	0.139*
	50 - 65%	0.23	0.341
	< 50%	2.03	0.533
Household Total	Lower-Middle	0.75	0.705
Expenditure	Middle	1.12	0.867
	Upper-Middle	1.15	0.846
	High	2	0.315
Debt	Yes	0.37	0.034*
Cash Assistance	Yes	10.71	0.045*

Table 17. Bivariate logistic regression between FIES and socio-demographics 6 months after the explosion

Variable	Categories	Odds Ratio	P > z
Household Size	3-4	0.3	0.104*
	>= 5	0.16	0.008*
Nationality	Lebanese Nationality	3.21	0.025*
Education of Head of	Elementary	4.44	0.072*
Household	Middle / Highschool	3.21	0.145*
	University	28.3	0.008*

Employment of Head of Household	Yes	1.34	0.513
Household Income	Middle Income Earner	0.8	0.657
	Upper-middle Income	0.6	0.600
	Earner		
	Highest Income Earner	1.6	0.473
Food Expenditure Share	65 - 75%	0.44	0.501
	50 - 65%	0.5	0.554
	< 50%	0.46	0.503
Household Total	Lower-Middle	1.15	0.836
Expenditure	Middle	0.88	0.845
	Upper-Middle	0.64	0.509
	High	1.92	0.402
Debt	Yes	0.24	0.009*
Cash Assistance	Yes	2.72	0.041*

Table 18. Pearson chi2 test of income between recall and baseline data

		House			
		Lowest	Middle	Highest	Total
		Income	Income	Income	
		Earners	Earners	Earners	
	Lowest Income	9	0	0	9
Household	Earners				
Income	Middle Income	0	6	0	6
Baseline	Earners				
	Highest Income	0	0	5	5
	Earners				
	Total	9	6	5	20

Table 19. Pearson chi2 test of total expenditure between recall and baseline data

		Household	Total Expendi	ture Recall	
		Low	Middle	High	Total
Household	Low	7	3	1	11
Total	Middle	0	3	0	3
Expenditure	High	0	1	5	6
Baseline	-				
Tota	1	7	7	6	20

		FIES 6 mo	FIES 6 months before the explosion						
			Recall						
		Food	Mild Food	Severe Food					
		Security	Insecurity	Insecurity					
FIES 6	Food Security	4	0	0	4				
months	Mild Food	0	13	0	13				
before the	Insecurity								
explosion	Severe Food	0	1	2	3				
Baseline	Insecurity								
Т	otal	4	14	2	20				

Table 20. Pearson chi2 test of FIES before the explosion between recall and baseline data

Table 21. Pearson chi2 test of FIES after the explosion between recall and baseline data

	FIES 6 months after the explosion								
		Recall							
		Food	Mild Food	Severe Food					
		Security	Insecurity	Insecurity					
FIES 6	Food Security	12	0	0	12				
months after	Mild Food	0	8	0	8				
the explosion	Insecurity								
Baseline	Severe Food	0	0	0	0				
	Insecurity								
Т	otal	12	8	0	20				

Table 22. Pearson chi2 test of FCS before the explosion between recall and baseline data

	explosion									
			Recall		Total					
		Acceptable	Borderline	Poor						
		Food	Food Food Food							
		Consumption	Consumption Consumption							
FCS 6	Acceptable	17	0	0	17					
months	Food									
before the	Consumption									
explosion	Borderline	0	2	1	3					
Baseline	Food									
	Consumption									
,	Total	17	2	1	20					

		FCS 6 m	onths after the e	xplosion							
			Recall		Total						
		Acceptable	Borderline	Poor							
		Food	Food	Food							
		Consumption	Consumption Consumption								
FCS 6	Acceptable	16	0	0	16						
months	Food										
after the	Consumption										
explosion	Borderline	1	3	0	4						
Baseline	Food										
	Consumption										
	Total	17	3	0	20						

Table 23. Pearson chi2 test of FCS after the explosion between recall and baseline data

Table 24. Pearson chi2 test of food assistance received between recall and baseline data

		Received Food Assistance Recall	Total
		Yes	
Received Food	Yes	20	20
Assistance Baseline			
Total		20	20

Table 25.	Pearson c	hi2 test of	cash	assistance	received	between	recall a	and ba	aseline (data
-----------	-----------	-------------	------	------------	----------	---------	----------	--------	-----------	------

		Received Cas Rec	sh Assistance call	Total
		No	Yes	
Received Cash	No	2	0	2
Assistance Baseline	Yes	0	18	18
Total		2	18	20

APPENDIX III (QUESTIONNAIRE)

Assessment of the food security status of the residents of Karantina, pre- and post- explosion.

DAT	Date													
DCID	Data Collect	or's												
	name													
Location	LOT numbe	r												
QR	Survey Status		Complete	Partially complete	No one qualified available	Refuse be intervi	d to ewed	Vacant	No one at home	Not eligible/ Not Applicable	No one answering the phone	Moved to another location	wrong number	dropped for logistic or security
Note: Data col	ector reads t	he consent	form and a	sks respond	ent if he/she	iainter	ested t	osparticipa	tesin the st	udv. If ves. dat	acollector shou	design the p	ravided cor	sent form.
Data collector	then proceed	s with writ	ing househ	old member	names on da	ata colle	ection s	heet.	0	- 1,,,	-0		10	11
ELIG2	Are you	interested	d in particip	ating in this	study?		1	Yes						
				-			0	No (dis	continue t	he survey and	go to QR)			
HHRES	How many people have lived with you, in this house for more than 6 months? (including yourself)													
HHSIZE	Membe	ers in your	household,	who have liv	ved with you	for								
	more th	nan 6 mont	ths and sha	re dwelling, i	food and but	dget,								
	amoun	t to:												
Age groups	<	5 years ol	d											
	E	Between 5	– 17 years (bld										
	E	Between 18	8 and 65 ye	ars old										
	<u> _</u> >	65 years of the second seco	old											
Pregnant wom	en 1	Yes					of pregnant women							
	0	No												

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut 04 OCT 2021

APPROVED₁

DEM: Demographics1											
DEM1	DEN	12	DEN	13b		DE	M4	DEM5			
Please give me the order number of the person who has lived with you in this house and shared with you food and	ls (n resp	umber) the ondent?	Rela hea	Relationship of (number) to head of household number 1			hat is umber)'s nder?	What is (nu	mber)'s age in	years?	
budget for more than 6	1	Yes	2	Husband/Wife		1	Male				
months. Please, start	0	No				2	Female				
with the head of			3	Son/Daughter							
and follow in order of			4	Father/Mother							
age.			5	Brother/Sister							
-0			6	Grandfather/Gra	ndmother						
Includes babies, other			7	Grandson/Grand	daughter						
residents etc.			8	Niece/Nephew							
The Head of Household			9	Son/Daughter in	Law						
should be a resident of			10	Father/Mother in	n Law						
the household			11	Brother/Sister in	Law						
	DEN	13a							Age in years	s (Record 0 f	for ages less than 1)
	Is {n	umber} the	12	Wife of the Son o	of the Head of						
	head	d of		HH/ Husband of t	the Daughter of						
	nou	senolar		the Head of HH							
	1	Yes	13	Other Relative							
	0	No									
			14	Other, Not Relati	ves						
			15	Cousin of the hea	ad of household						
	1		88	Don't know							
			99	Refuse to answe	r						
	DEN	6 What is		1	2	3		4	77	88	99
	(nur	nber)'s									
	nati	onality?									

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 2

	Syria	Lebanese	Palestinian from Lebanon	Palestinia n from Syria	other	Don't know	Refuse to answer
DEM6_a:	If DEM10=77 If other, please sp	ecify:					

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut 04 OCT 2021

DEM1	EDU1		EDU2		EDU2_a
Please give me the order	During the	current school year, that is 2020-	If EDI	J1=0	If EDU2=77
number of a person who	2021, was	(number) enrolled in formal or	If not,	what is/are the reason(s) for not attending	If other, please
has lived with you in this	informal so	chool or preschool at any time? If	schoo	l/university?	specify:
house, and shared with	DEM5<3	OR >21			
you food and budget for	1	Yes, formal	19	Child is too young	
more than 6 months.			1	Cost of education	
Please, start with the	2	Yes, informal	2	Informal education program/ short course/ vocational	
head of household as				training	
number 1 and follow in					
order of age	5	Yes, formal but dropped out	3	No space in school	-
residents etc.	6	Yes, informal but dropped out	4	School did not allow enrolment	
The Head of Household	0	No	5	No school shifts or school in area	
should be a resident of					
the household.	88	Don't know	6	Difficulties at school with curriculum or language of	
				instruction	
	99	Refuse to answer	7	School too far	
			_		
			-		_
			8	Marriage	_
			9	Work	_
			10	Disability or illness	_
			11	Learning difficulty	
			12	Cultural/religious reasons	
			13	Children need to stay at home	
			14	Fear of violence/bullying in schools	
			15	Fear of violence on the way to school	7
			16	No interest in attending school	
			17	Transportation problems/cost	
			18	Already graduated	
			77	Other	
			88	Don't know	
			99	Refuse to answer	
					1

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 4

EDU: Education 2								
DEM1	EDU	3	EDU	EDU4				
Please give me the order number of a person who	If DE Curre	M5>3 ent educational attainment:	If ED	If EDU7=1 and DEM5>=6 If never attended, which of the following applies to (number)?				
has lived with you in this house, and shared with	Wha 1	Never Attended	1	Read and write				
you food and budget for	2	Elementary (grades1,2,3,4,5,6) – no certificate	2	Illiterate				
Please start with the head	3	Elementary (grades1,2,3,4,5,6) - with certificate	88	Don't know				
of household as number 1	4	Preparatory level (grades 7,8,9) - no Brevet	99	Refuse to answer				
and follow in order of age.	5	Preparatory level (grades 7,8,9) - with Brevet		·				
Indudes habing ashee	6	Secondary (grades 10,11,12) - without Baccalaureate	1					
residents etc.	7	Secondary (grades 10,11,12) - with Baccalaureate	7					
The Head of Household	8	Vocational (no certificate)	7					
should be a resident of	9	Vocational (with certificate TS/ BTS / Diploma)	7					
the household.	10	University (without Degree)	7					
	11	University (with DegreeLicense, BSc, BA, etc.)						
	12	Post Graduate (Masters, PhD)						
	88	Don't Know						
	99	Refuse to answer	7					

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut 04 OCT 2021

Participants are	not r	equested to identify ar	iyone l	by name or th	e illeg	EMP: Employ To be asked to memi al activity they might have engaged	ment1 bers ag l in, an	ed>=5 d limit their response by yes or no, and that they are free	to refus	e to	answer this question				
Dem1	EMP	1	EMP	2		EMP3	EMP	4	EMP5						
		-		-		nemployed	Employed								
Please give	Did (number) work for	<u> </u>	If did no	nt worl	k at all the past 30 days	If did work in the past month								
me the name	wage	e (cash or in kind)	If EN	IP1=0	IfEN	MP1=0 & EMP2=0	IFEN	IP1=1 or EMP3=10/11	If	If EMP1=1 & EMP3=10/11					
of a person	the	ast four months	Was	(number)	If no	, why?	Classify the job in one of the below categories In which economic set								
who has lived	(Wor	rk without pay does	out a	and looking					da	oes	(number) work in				
with you in	not i	nclude domestic	for w	ork in the					th	their main job?					
and shared	work	and family care)?	past	four											
with you food	1	Ver	mon 1	thsr Ver	1	Lost hope of finding a job so	1	Agriculture (Farming, raising and celling livestock	1	_	Agriculture				
and budget	1	163	1	165	1	gave up	1	products)	1		Agriculture				
for more than 6	0 No 0 No 2 Fears to be detained because is 2 illegal					2	Construction(excluding crafts like plumbing) and quarry	/ing 2		Industry					
months. Please, start with the head of household as number 1	88	Don't Know	88	Don't Know	3	Student	3	Concierge/housemaid/Janitor/cleaning services	3		Construction				
	99	Refuse to answer	99	Refuse to	4	Housewife /pregnant/ raises	4	Manufacturing/Industry (machine operators)	4		Education				
				answer		children	5	Food processing - agrofood							
and follow in					5	Has Independent Means	6	Wholesale and retail trade	5		Health care				
order of age.	EMP	1_a 401 -1			_	the editability of stals	7	Characterized as and stars to an ince (share classical calling		+	Tende				
	IF EN	/IFI = I a job located in the			0	Has a disability of sick	'	food/vegetables)	; °		Trade				
Includes	neig	hborhood?			7	Retired/pensioner/old	8	Personal and other services workers(Hairdressers, barb	ers. 7	+	Transport and				
bables, other					·	net co, pensioner, ora	Ŭ	beauticians, day care, data collector, delivery)			Communication				
The Head of	1	Yes]												
Household	0	No			L					\rightarrow					
should be a resident of	EMP	1_b			8	Social and family beliefs/pressure	9	Restaurant services workers(Cooks, Waiters, waitresses and bartenders)	8		Other services				
the	If EN	1P1=0			9	Afraid/ Unable to leave the	10	Transportation, valet service, delivery driver, truck drive	er 9		Insurance and				
household.	Was	it lost by the				place of residence			_	-	Financial Sector				
	explo	osion?			10	In agreement with employer	11	Admin/support and clerks (secretaries, office boy, cash	ier, 10		Hospitality (Food				
	1	Yes						receptionist			and beverage				
	0	INO				CIVICA					Tourism				
			11 Washe but as userties (sink 1			Works but on vacation / sick	12	Crafts (painting carpentry metal aluminum plumbing	1.	1	Environment				
					11	leave→ EMP4	12	cooling/heating systems, tailoring, car repair)	, i 1	1	charonnellt				
					12	Too young	13	Environment (including garbage collection and recyclin	g 88	в	Don't Know				

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 6

13	Not allowed to work legally	14	other elementary occupations (filling bags at supermarket)		
14	Lost work because of the			99	Refuse to answer
	explosion				
77	Other				
88	Don't Know				
99	Refuse to answer	15	Asking strangers for money		
		16	Professionals and technicians (teachers, architects,		
			engineers, doctors)		
		77	Other		
		88	Don't Know		
		99	Refuse to answer		

DEM1	EMP6		EMP8	
	If EMP1=1	& EMP3=10/11	If EMP1=	1 & EMP3=10/11
	Is (number)'s main job seasonal?	On what	basis is (name) paid in their main job?
	1	Yes	1	Hourly
Please give me the name of a person who	0	No	2	Daily
has lived with you in this house, and shared	88	Don't know	3	Weekly
with you food and budget for more than 6	99	Refuse to answer	4	Monthly
months. Please, start with the head of			5	By piece/ service
of age.			88	Don't know
			99	Refuse to answer
Includes babies, other residents etc.	EMP7			
The Head of Household should be a	If EMP1=1	& EMP3=10/11		
resident of the household	(number)'s	main job is:		
resident of the household.	1	Full-time (monthly)		
	2	Part-time (monthly)		
	3	Daily or by piece/service regular		
	4	Daily or by piece/service irregular		
	77	Other		
	88	Don't know		
	99	Refuse to answer		

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut

04 OCT 2021

DEM1	EMP	9					
	If EMP1=1 & EMP3=10/11						
Please give me the name of a	Wha	it is the amount of					
person who has lived with you in	(nun	nber's) income or net					
this house, and shared with you	valu	e profit in?					
food and budget for more than 6	(for	the last month for all jobs)					
months. Please, start with the head of household as number 1							
and follow in order of age.	EMP10						
	If EMP1=1 & EMP3=10/11						
Includes babies, other residents	CUR	R:					
etc.	1	Lebanese Lira (LL)					
The Head of Household should be	2	US Dollars					
a resident of the household.	66	Not applicable					
	88	Don't know					
	99	Refuse to answer					

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 8

	Food Consumption	Pre	explosion	Post-explosion						
	How often do members of your household est the	Erequency	Timeframe	Erequency	Timeframe	Has any member of				
	following foods before the explosion (how many times	enter 0 if	1. Daily	enter 0 if	5 Daily	the household				
	per day, per week, per month)?	never	2 Weekly	never	6 Weekly	eaten this food in				
	per day, per week, per monary:	never	3. Monthly	never	7. Monthly	the last 24 hours				
			4. Never		8. Never	(during the day and				
		frequency	88 - Don't	frequency	88 – Don't Know	night)?				
		,	Know		99-Refuse to	Yes=1. No=0. Don't				
			99-Refuse to		answer	Know=88 Refuse to				
			answer			answer=99				
					_timeframe					
			_timeframe		-	_24hours				
Cereals	Cereals (Bread, Rice, Burghol, Pasta, Frikeh, bulgur									
	Manakish)									
Tubers	Roots and Tubers (baked potatoes, beet root)									
Dairy	Milk and Dairy products									
	fresh milk / sour, yogurt, lebneh, cheese, other dairy									
	products									
	(Exclude margarine / butter or small amounts of milk									
	for tea / coffee)									
Chicken_meat	Chicken and Meat (goat, beef, chicken, ,, turkey, , (meat									
	and fish consumed in large quantities and not as a									
	condiment)									
Fish	Fish (Fresh/Canned) (dried, fresh and smoked fish,									
	including canned tuna, and / or other seafood (fish in									
F	large quantities and not as a condiment)									
CRR2	Eggs									
Pulses	Pulses and legumes (lentils, chickpeas, beans, fava									
	beans, green beans, peas, , cowpeas, groundnut,									
	ground bean):									
Vegetables	Vegetables and leaves (: Spinach, Onion, Tomatoes,									
	Carrots, Peppers, Lettuce, Cucumber, Radish, Cabbage									
F	ETC)									
Fruits	Fruits (Fruits: Banana, Apple, Lemon, Mango, Papaya,									
Oil fata	Apricol, Peach, Watermeion etc)									
UIL_TAILS	Uis and fats (butter, vegetable oil, margarine, olive oil ,									
1	Tried, chips)	1	1	1	1	1				

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 11

04 OCT 2021

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut

American	University	of	Beir

	0	NO	0	addit in your nousehold ever eat the size	0	140
old	88	Don't know	88	of your meal because there was not	88	Don'
our	99	Refuse to answer	99	enough food?	99	Refu
was						
۱,	1	Yes	FOOD6a	After the explosion, did you or any other	1	Yes
	0	No		adult ever skip a meal because there was	0	No
al	88	Don't know		not enough food?	88	Don'
ot	99	Refuse to answer			99	Refu
	1	Yes	FOOD7a		1	Yes

	FOOD	SECURI	TY-PRE-EXPLOSION		FOOD SECURITY - POS	TEXP	LOSION
FOOD1	Which of these sentences applies the most to the food eaten by your household before the explosion?	SECURI 1 2 3 4 88	TY-PRE-EXPLOSION We had enough to eat of the kinds of food we wanted (quantity & quality) We had enough to eat but not always the kinds of food we wanted (only quantity) Sometimes we did not have enough to eat (quantity) Often we did not have enough to eat Don't know	FOOD1a	POOD SECURITY – POO POOD SECURITY – POO Which of these sentences applies the most to the food eaten by your household after the explosion?	1 2 3 4 88	LOSION We had enough to eat of the kinds of food we wanted (quantity & quality) We had enough to eat but not always the kinds of food we wanted (only quantity) Sometimes we did not have enough to eat (quantity) Often we did not have enough to eat Don't know
FOOD2	Before the explosion, was there a time when you were concerned that you would run out of food for your household for the next month?	99 1 0 88 99	Refuse to answer Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer	FOOD2a	After the explosion, was there a time when you were concerned that you would run out of food for your household for the next month?	99 1 0 88 99	Refuse to answer Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer
FOOD3	FOOD3 Did the following statement apply to your household before the explosion? "The food that we bought was not enough and we didn't have money to get		Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer	FOOD3a	Did the following statement apply to your household after the explosion? "The food that we bought was not enough and we didn't have money to get more."	1 0 88 99	Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer
FOOD4	Are there any foods you feel your family did not eat enough of before the explosion? Before the explosion, did you or any other adult in your household ever cut the size of your meal because there was not enough food?	1 0 88 99 1 0 88 99	Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer	FOOD4a 1 0 88 99	Are there any foods you feel your family did not eat enough after the explosion? After the explosion, did you or any other adult in your household ever cut the size of your meal because there was not enough food?	1 0 88 99 1 0 88 99	Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer
FOOD6	Before the explosion, did you or any other adult ever skip a meal because there was not enough food?	1 0 88 99	Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer Yes	FOOD6a FOOD7a	After the explosion, did you or any other adult ever skip a meal because there was not enough food?	1 0 88 99	Yes No Don't know Refuse to answer Yes

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut

 COPED
 Withdrew Children from School
 I_I

 COPED
 Have school children (6 -15 years old) involved in income generation
 I_I

 COPE11
 HH members accepting high risk, dangerous, or exploitative work
 I_I

 COPE15
 Marriage of children under 18
 I_I

 COPE16
 Eat at family/ relatives
 I_I

 1=No, wasn't necessary 2=No, because I already did it (so cannot continue to do it) 3=Not applicable 4=Yes
 88=Don't know
 99=Refuse to

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 10

18									
	Wild	Wild plants/ herbs (Wild thyme, akkoub, khibbayze, hindbeh)							
ļ	nuts	Nuts(walnuts, almonds, peanuts)							
								_	
		Foo	D: COPING STRATE	GIES					
	During	the past 6 months did anyone in your household have to do	one of the foll	owing things becaus	e there was	Insert the code below:	1-4 Insert the c	Insert the code below: 1-4	
	not en	ough food or money to buy it?		0		Pre-explosion	Post-	explosion	
	COPE1	Sold household goods (radio, furniture, television, jew	elry etc.)						
	COPE3	Reduce expenses on health (including drugs)				_			
	COPE4	Reduce expenses on education				_			
	COPES	Spent some or all of the HH savings		_					
	COPE6	Bought food on credit and/or borrowed money to pur		_					
	COPE7	Moved to a cheaper rental place/live on the street				_			
	COPE8	Withdrew children from school				<u> _ </u>			

1

sugar and sweets and(sugar, honey, jam, cakes, candy, cookies, pastereies, Chocolate/ Candies/ Desserts /

Beverages (Sodas/ Bottled Beverages/ Jellab/Tout)

Biscuits/ Ice-cream)

Sugar_sweets

answer

Bev

	Before the explosion,	0	No		After the explosion, was there a time	0	No
	was there a time when	88	Don't know		when you or any adult in your household	88	Don't know
	you or any adult in your	99	Refuse to answer		were unable to eat healthy and	99	Refuse to answer
	household were unable				nutritious food because of a lack of		
	to eat healthy and				money or other resources?		
	nutritious food because						
	of a lack of money or						
	other resources?						
FOOD8	Before the explosion,	1	Yes	FOOD8a	After the explosion, was there a time	1	Yes
	was there a time when	0	No		when you or any adult in your household	0	No
	you or any adult in your	88	Don't know		were hungry but did not eat because	88	Don't know
	household were hungry	99	Refuse to answer		there was not enough money or other	99	Refuse to answer
	but did not eat because				resources for food?		
	there was not enough						
	money or other						
	resources for food?						
FOOD9	Before the explosion,	1	Yes	FOOD9a	After the explosion, was there a time	1	Yes
	was there a time when	0	No		when you or any adult in your household	0	No
	you or any adult in your	88	Don't know		went without eating for a whole day or	88	Don't know
	household went without	99	Refuse to answer	1	got to bed hungry because of a lack of	99	Refuse to answer
	eating for a whole day				money or other resources?		
	or got to bed hungry						
	because of a lack of						
	money or other						
	resources?						

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 12

	EXP: Expen													diture												
	A	MNT_					CU	RR_						TF_												
	H ti fe N O	low much did y he last 6 month bllowing? lote: This inclu r in-kind assist	your family spend in the on each of the des all types of case ance received	n h			Please specify the currency					Please specify the timeframe														
					Ar	mount	Lebanese US Don't Refuse					Daily	We	ekly	Mo	nthly	Quarterl	<u> </u>	/early	One	Neve	er	Don't	Refuse		
					⊢		Poi	und	Do	llar	kn d H	DUS:	Housing1									time	/Not		know	to
HOUS1		Specify		Ap	artr	nent/	(L.I)	(\$)	eng	gine		atometere	e's	Fact	tory		Garag	je –	Pre	fab unit		appli	cable		answer
EXP1	R	entype	Apartment/ho	ho	usle	_	Act	ive	2	roc	n 8 8		990 min	1	2		3		4	-	5	6	66		88	99
EXP2	F	oo@/gFB&@fes	use (Not	(Sł	are	<u>d)</u>	qor	struc	ion ₂		88		ggsident	ah	2		3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
EXP3	۷	ate ^e Service	shared)		Ι.	_	fite		2		88		Building	1	2		3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
EXP4	D	rinking Water			١.	_	1		2		88		-99	1	2		3	0	4	40	;	6	66		88	99
EXP5	C	oking Gas	1	2	Η,	_	1		2	4	88		<u>.</u>	1	2		3	<u> </u>	4	10	;	6	66		88	99
EXP6	В	enzene / Fuel	or Transport	w	arer	louse	1 Yro	rksho	P 2	oth	1er 88		99	ΡΨ	2 2	use to	3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
EXP7	C	al / Diesel for	heating	14	Π.		45		2	77	88		98	1	60	~~	3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
Fields1	1Ē	equilibrius (Generation)	rator Subscription	-	Π.		1		2		88		99	1	2		3		4		5	6	66		88	99
EXP9	T	raśfiotebrero vallea	ase specify:			1	1		2		88		99	1	2		3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
B04192	C	lo Spiegify	Owned	Re	nte	d (dire	dt fler	nt F	tentæd	(in	88	н	o 999ed	stquat	ting	As	sisted	l (by or	anization	ns, S	other	6	Don't66	Refus	e 1826	99
EXP11	н	outwere ma		pa	vme	ent)	1	e	kchang	e of	88	fo	rójngee	1	2	age	engies	, charit	yal			6	know66	answe	er 88	99
	n	p 調明 新 の 新 の に の に の に の に の の の の の の の の の	nce/insurance			-'	-	w	ork)					-	_		-					-				
EXP12	ν	chicle	1	2			1	3	2		88	4	99	5	2	6	3		4		77	6	88 66	99	88	99
HOUS3	r	epāintahainsen	an centrificauraexc@Met	ers	squa	ared)													m ²							
EKR194	E	duktitatris(tubiei	nunbleenkef rooms	occu	pile	d by yo	ur1ho	useho	ld?‡e>	cludi	in 668		99	1	2		3		4	5	5	6	66		88	99
	s	tatkittebey),tbabl	ning)ms, garage, ba	lco	y)						-								room	IS						
EXP14	D	octor consulta	tions/diagnostic		Ι.		1		2		88		99	1	2		3		4	5	ō	6	66		88	99
	tests/hospitalization/medication					1							1													

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut

04 OCT 2021

EXP15	Public Transportation		1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP16	School Transportation	1_1	1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP17	Communications (landline, mobile phones, internet fees)		1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP18	Outings and other entertainment (dvd rentals, etc.)		1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP19	Tobacco (cigarettes, cigars, argileh)		1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP20	Debt repayment	11	1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
EXP21	Other (including weddings, funerals,	1_1	1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99
	ceremonies)														
EXP22	Total	1_1	1	2	88	99	1	2	3	4	5	6	66	88	99

ASST: Assistance									
		Yes	No	Don't know	Refuse to				
					answer				
ASST1	Have you received in-kind food assistance post explosion?	1	0	88	99				
ASST2	Have you received any other cash assistance post-explosion?	1	0	88	99				
ASST3	Have you received any other non-food in-kind assistance post explosion (clothes, hygiene products, etc)?	1	0	88	99				
ASST4	Have you received any services assistance (dwelling maintenance/repair etc) post explosion?	1	0	88	99				

INC1	INC2		INC3				INC4
Approximately how	If INC1>0		If INC1>0		Rank the	three main sources of income you use to cover your	Income source 1:
much is the household	Please specify the		How frequently do you		expense	s?	
income?	currency.		receive this income?		(multiple	e options)	
					Note: Buying on credit is a form of income		
	1	Lebanese Pound	1	Daily	1	Remittances	
		(L.L.)					
	2	U.S. Dollars (\$)	2	Weekly	2	Employment (wage, profit)	INC5
	88	Don't know	3	Fortnightly			Income source 2:
	99	Refuse to	4	Monthly	4	Savings	
		answer					
			5	Every 6 months	5	Credits/debts/loan (including credits from shops)	

04 OCT 2021

APPROVED 14

6	Annually	6	Sale of assets/household goods/livestock/crops	INC6
88	Don't know	7	Sale of in-kind aid	Income source 3:
99	Refuse to answer	8	Assistance from humanitarian organization(cash, voucher, in-kind, other assistance and services)	
		9	Gifts, donations from friends/relatives in Lebanon	
		10	No other source of income (only for INC5 and INC6)	
		77	Other	
		88	Don't know	
		99	Refuse to answer	

DEBT: Debt							
DEBT1	Does your family have debt?	1	1	/es			
		0	1	No			
		88	[Don't know			
		99	F	Refuse to answer			
DEBT2	If DEBT1=1		I_1				
	How much?						
CURR_	Currency	1		Lebanese Pound (L.L.)			
		2		US Dollar (\$)			
		88		Don't know			
		99		Refuse to answer			

Institutional Review Board American University of Beirut 04 OCT 2021
REFERENCES

ACTED. (2020, August). Beirut Blast Rapid Needs Assessment Report. ReliefWeb. Retrieved from

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Lebanon_Beirut%20Blast _Rapid%20Needs%20Assessment%20Report_August%202020_final.pdf

Ahmadi, D., & Melgar-Quiñonez, H. (2018). Use of the Food Insecurity Experience Scale to assess food security status in Ireland, 2014–17: a cross-sectional analysis. *The Lancet*, 392, S16. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32868-X

American University of Beirut. (2020). Karantina Land Food Recovery Project. AUB. Retrieved from

https://www.aub.edu.lb/advancement/Development/Pages/Karantina-Land-Food-Recovery-Project.aspx

- Bahn, R., EL Labban, S., & Hwalla, N. (2019). Impacts of shifting to healthier food consumption patterns on environmental sustainability in MENA countries.
 Sustainability Science, 14(4), 1131-1146.
- Beirut Urban Lab. (2020). An Urban Recovery Strategy for Post-Blast Karantina. Retrieved from http://api.beiruturbanlab.com/Content/uploads/Articles/239~An-Urban-Recovery-Strategy-of-Post-blast-Karantina-Reports.pdf

Beirut Urban Lab. (2021, March). Karantina Urban Snapshot. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/karantina-urban-snapshot-march-2021

Béné, C. Resilience of local food systems and links to food security – A review of some important concepts in the context of COVID-19 and other shocks. Food Sec. 12, 805–822 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-020-01076-1

- Camealeon. (Year). Impact Assessment of Multi-Purpose Cash Assistance for Syrian Refugees in Lebanon. Retrieved from https://www.nrc.no/globalassets/pdf/reports/camealeon-impact-assessment-ofmulti-purpose-cash-assistance-for-syrian-refugees-in-lebanon/camealeon-mpcimpact-assessment.pdf
- Clements, K. W., & Si, J. (2018). Engel's Law, Diet Diversity, and the Quality of Food Consumption. American journal of agricultural economics, 100(1), 1-22. doi:10.1093/ajae/aax053

Daniels, M. C., & Anderson, G. (2018). Evaluation of the 2017 Somalia humanitarian Cash-based response. Somalia Inter-Agency Cash Working Group. Retrieved from https://www.calpnetwork.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/1538990263.2018-08-Somalia-CWG-Eval-Rpt-of-2017-CBA-response-Low-Res-for-email-1.pdf

- Dautriat, J. (2022). The Use of Cash and Voucher Assistance for Sustainable
 Livelihoods in Protracted Crises: Silver Bullet or Double-Edged Sword?
 (Master Programme in International Humanitarian Action). Uppsala University,
 Retrieved from
 https://uu.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1686786/FULLTEXT01.pdf
 doi:10.2499/0896297675
- EAT. (2019). EAT-Lancet Commission Summary Report. Retrieved from https://eatforum.org/eat-lancet-commission/eat-lancet-commission-summaryreport/
- Falb, K. L., Blackwell, A. H., Stennes, J., & Annan, J. (2020). Cash assistance programming and changes over time in ability to meet basic needs, food

insecurity and depressive symptoms in Raqqa Governorate, Syria: Evidence from a mixed methods, pre-posttest. PloS one, 15(5), e0232588. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232588

- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2020. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2020. Transforming food systems for affordable healthy diets.
 Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca9692en
- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2022. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2022. Repurposing food and agricultural policies to make healthy diets more affordable. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0639en
- FAO. (2009). World Summit on Food Security. Rome. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/Summit/Docs/Final_Declaration/ WSFS09_Declaration.pdf
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2013). The Food Insecurity Experience Scale. FAO. https://www.fao.org/3/bl354e/bl354e.pdf

FSIN and Global Network Against Food Crises. 2023. GRFC 2023. Rome.

Ghattas, H. 2014. Food security and nutrition in the context of the nutrition transition. Technical Paper. FAO, Rome. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/economic/ess/ess-fs/voices/en/

- Global Nutrition Burden. (2020). *The burden of malnutrition*. Global Nutrition Report. Retrieved from https://globalnutritionreport.org/reports/global-nutrition-report-2018/burden-malnutrition/
- HLPE. 2020. Food security and nutrition: building a global narrative towards 2030. A report by the High-Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the

Committee on World Food Security, Rome. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/ca9731en/ca9731en.pdf

- Hoteit, M., Al-Atat, Y., Joumaa, H., Ghali, S. E., Mansour, R., Mhanna, R., Sayyed-Ahmad, F., Salameh, P., & Al-Jawaldeh, A. (2021). Exploring the impact of crises on food security in lebanon: Results from a national cross-sectional study. Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland), 13(16), 8753. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13168753
- Humanitarian Coalition. (2021). From Humanitarian to Development Aid. Retrieved from https://www.humanitariancoalition.ca/from-humanitarian-to-developmentaid
- Hwalla, N., El Labban, S., & Bahn, R. A. (2016). Nutrition security is an integral component of food security. *Frontiers in life science*, 9(3), 167-172. doi:10.1080/21553769.2016.1209133
- Ignowski, Liz; Natalie Volin, Kristin Cabrera, ChristineVan Fossen, Beatrice Lorge Rogers, and Patrick Webb. Improving Nutrition Through Food Assistance: Achievements of the Food Aid Quality Review. Report to USAID from the Food Aid Quality Review. Boston, MA: Tufts University, 2021.
- Integrated Food Security Phase Classification. (2022). Lebanon Acute Food Insecurity Analysis. IPC. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/lebanonacute-food-insecurity-situation-september-december-2022-and-projectionjanuary-april-2023-economic-crisis-currency-depreciation-and-unprecedentedincrease-food-and-non-food-prices-worsen-lebanon-food-security-situation
- Integrated Food Security Phase Classification. (2023). Lebanon's food insecurity persists as economic crisis continues (May October 2023). IPC. Retrieved from

https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/lebanon-lebanons-food-insecurity-persistseconomic-crisis-continues-may-october-2023-published-august-7-2023

- International Committee of the Red Cross. (2022). Food Security and Armed Conflict. ICRC. Retrieved from https://www.icrc.org/en/document/food-security-andarmed-conflict
- Khalil, Z. M., Hwalla, N. (2020). American University of Beirut. Faculty of Agriculture & Food Sciences. Food Security. The economic cost and environmental impacts of shifting to healthier dietary patterns in Lebanon. Retrieved from https://go.exlibris.link/x18pC87B (Dissertation/Thesis)
- Kharroubi, S., Naja, F., Diab-El-Harake, M., Jomaa, L. Food Insecurity Pre- and Post the COVID-19 Pandemic and Economic Crisis in Lebanon: Prevalence and Projections. Nutrients 2021, 13, 2976. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13092976
- Morris, S. (2018, August 2). Long-term food bank users risk nutritional problems. The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/18/long-term-food-bank-users-

nutritional-problems-balanced-diet

- Naja, F., Nasreddine, L., Itani, L., Chamieh, M. C., Adra, N., Sibai, A. M., & Hwalla, N. (2011). Dietary patterns and their association with obesity and sociodemographic factors in a national sample of Lebanese adults. *Public Health Nutrition, 14*(9), 1570-1578. doi:10.1017/s136898001100070x
- Parvez, M., Islam, M. R., & Dey, N. C. (2022). Household food insecurity after the early monsoon flash flood of 2017 among wetland (haor) communities of northeastern Bangladesh: A cross-sectional study. Food and Energy Security, 11(1) doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.326

- Romano, D., Stefani, G., Rocchi, B., & Fiorillo, C. (2020). The impact of assistance on poverty and food security in a fragile and protracted-crisis context: the case of West Bank and Gaza Strip. *Bio-Based and Applied Economics*, 8(1), 21–61. https://doi.org/10.13128/bae-8145
- Sahyoun, N. R., Nord, M., Sassine, A. J., Seyfert, K., Hwalla, N., & Ghattas, H. (2014). Development and validation of an Arab family food security scale. *The Journal* of nutrition, 144(5), 751-757. doi:10.3945/jn.113.187112
- Salameh, P., Jomaa, L., Issa, C., Farhat, G., Salama, J., Zeidan, N., & Baldi, I. (2014).
 Assessment of Dietary Intake Patterns and Their Correlates among University
 Students in Lebanon. *Frontiers in Public Health, 2.*doi:10.3389/fpubh.2014.00185
- Sheikomar, O. B., Dean, W., Ghattas, H., & Sahyoun, N. R. (2021). Validity of the Food Insecurity Experience Scale (FIES) for Use in League of Arab States (LAS) and Characteristics of Food Insecure Individuals by the Human Development Index (HDI). Current developments in nutrition, 5(4), nzab017. https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzab017
- Smith, Lisa C., and Ali Subandoro. 2007. Measuring Food Security Using Household
 Expenditure Surveys. Food Security in Practice technical guide series.
 Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Susanty, B., Habibullah, H., Irmayani, N. R., Erwinsyah, R. G., Nainggolan, T.,
 Sugiyanto, S., Rahman, A., Arifin, J., As'adhanayadi, B., & Nurhayu, N. (2023).
 Social cash assistance for food security during a disaster: lesson learned from
 Indonesia. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science.
 https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/1180/1/012047

- SWAC/OECD (2021), Food system transformations in the Sahel and West Africa: implications for people and policies, Maps & Facts, no. 4, April 2021.
- Temple N.J. (2017) What Is a Healthy Diet? From Nutritional Science to Food Guides. In: Temple N., Wilson T., Bray G. (eds) Nutrition Guide for Physicians and Related Healthcare Professionals. Nutrition and Health. Humana Press, Cham. https://doi-org.ezproxy.aub.edu.lb/10.1007/978-3-319-49929-1 28
- Tranchant, J.P., Gelli, A., Bliznashka, L., Diallo, A.S., Sacko, M., Assima, A., Siegel,
 E.H., Aurino, E., Masset, E. (2019). The impact of food assistance on food
 insecure populations during conflict: Evidence from a quasi-experiment in Mali.
 World Development. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.01.027
- VASyR. (2017). Vulnerability Assessment of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/vasyr-2017-vulnerability-assessmentsyrian-refugees-lebanon
- VASyR. (2021). Vulnerability Assessment of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/vasyr-2021-vulnerability-assessmentsyrian-refugees-lebanon
- Vermeulen, H., Muller, C., & Schönfeldt, H. C. (2020, April 22). Food aid parcels in South Africa could do with a better nutritional balance. The Conversation. Retrieved from https://theconversation.com/food-aid-parcels-in-south-africacould-do-with-a-better-nutritional-balance-136417
- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone Versus Face-to-Face Interviews: Mode Effect on Semistructured Interviews with Children. Sociological methodology, 43(1), 133-177. doi:10.1177/0081175012465967

- WFP. (2020, August 17). Families desperate as Beirut blast drives up unemployment | World Food Programme. Retrieved from https://www.wfp.org/stories/familiesdesperate-beirut-blast-drives-unemployment
- WFP. (2021a, October 15). *Lebanon | World Food Programme*. Retrieved from https://www.wfp.org/countries/lebanon
- WFP. (2021b, August 3). One year after the Beirut blasts, WFP assists more people in Lebanon than ever before | World Food Programme. Retrieved from https://www.wfp.org/news/one-year-after-beirut-blasts-wfp-assists-more-peoplelebanon-ever
- Willett, W., Rockström, J., Loken, B., Springmann, M., Lang, T., Vermeulen, S., ...
 Murray, C. J. L. (2019). Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet
 Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. The Lancet,
 393(10170), 447-492. doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4
- World Food Programme. (2008). Food consumption analysis. Calculation and use of the food consumption score in food security analysis. Retrieved from https://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/manual_guide_proc ed/wfp197216.pdf
- World Food Programme. (2021c). Livelihood Coping Strategies Indicator for Food Security - Guidance Note. WFP. Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000147801/download/

 World Food Programme. (2022). Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis of Lebanese Residents. WFP Lebanon. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/lebanon/wfp-lebanon-food-security-andvulnerability-analysis-lebanese-residents-july-2022

- World Health Organization & World Food Program. (1997). Food Aid for Health & Development. World Health Organization. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/63923/WHO_FSF_FAP_97.2.p df?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Wrabel, M., Caiafa, K., Rogers, B. L., & Webb, P. (2020). Food Aid for Nutrition: A Landscape Review of Current Research and Implications for Future Studies.
 ENNOnline. Retrieved from https://www.ennonline.net/attachments/3517/FEX-62-Web_8Apr2020_38-40.pdf